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Objective and Overview

 In May 2018, Fidelity Japan Trust PLC adopted its new name and changed its investment 
objective and investment policy to allow greater investment across the market cap spectrum, 
moving away from its previous focus on medium and small sized companies.
 
 This change in name, objective and policy refl ects more closely the Portfolio Manager’s 
“growth at a reasonable price” investment style and approach which involves identifying 
companies whose growth prospects are under appreciated or not fully recognised by 
other investors.

The Company aims to achieve long term capital growth by 
investing predominantly in equities and related securities of 
Japanese companies.



At a Glance
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2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share total return

+3.1%

+24.6%

+34.1%

-15.4%

+20.5%

Year ended 31 December1

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Ordinary Share Price total return

0.0%

+20.5%

+17.0%

+49.3%

-16.2%

Year ended 31 December1

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

+5.1%

+19.4%

+22.0%

+17.5%

Year ended 31 December

-8.3%

Reference Index (in sterling terms)2 

1 Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share total return and Ordinary Share Price total return are  Alternative  Performance  Measures. See Note 19 on page 58.
2   The Company’s Reference Index changed from the Russell Nomura Mid/Small Cap Index (in sterling terms) to the TOPIX Index (in sterling terms) on 22 May 2018.  

Therefore, the Reference Index reported for 2018 is a blend of the two for the relevant reporting periods.

As at 31 December 2018

Shareholders’ Funds

£187.5m
Market Capitalisation

£171.6m
Capital Structure
Ordinary Shares of 25 pence held outside Treasury

135,136,195

Summary of the key aspects 
of the Investment Policy

The  Portfolio Manager will typically focus on those companies 
primarily listed on Japanese stock exchanges whose growth 
prospects are not fully recognised by the market (“growth at a 
reasonable price”). The  Portfolio Manager is not restricted in 
terms of size or industry of the underlying entities in which  he 
invests. 

The Company can hold cash or invest in cash equivalents 
including money market instruments, and is also able to use 
derivatives for effi  cient portfolio management, gearing and 
investment purposes.

The  Portfolio Manager must work within the guidelines set out 
in the Investment Policy.



2018 2017

Assets at 31 December
Total portfolio exposure1 £216.0m £264.1m

Shareholders’ funds £187.5m £222.5m
Total portfolio exposure in excess of shareholders’ funds 
(Gearing – see Note 17 on page 57)

15.2% 18.7%

NAV per ordinary share 138.77p 164.10p

Stockmarket data at 31 December
TOPIX Index (in sterling terms) 15.9097 17.3621

Reference Index (in sterling terms)2 3.5539 3.8756

Yen/£ exchange rate 139.733 152.387

Ordinary share price at the year end 127.00p 151.50p

 year high 167.00p 151.50p

 year low 125.00p 101.50p

Discount at the year end 8.5% 7.7%

 year high 17.1% 18.6%

 year low 2.7% 6.2%

Results for the year to 31 December – see page 42
Revenue  loss per ordinary share  (0.07p) (0.22p)

Capital (loss)/return per ordinary share (25. 22p) 41.88p

Total (loss)/return per ordinary share (25.29p) 41.66p

Ongoing  Charges for the year to 31 December3 1.10% 1.31%

1  The total exposure of the investment portfolio, including exposure to the investments underlying the long contracts for diff erence. See Note 17 on page 57.
2  The Company’s Reference Index changed from the Russell Nomura Mid/Small Cap Index (in sterling terms) to the TOPIX Index (in sterling terms) on 22 May 2018. 

Therefore,  the Reference Index reported for 2018 is a blend of the two for the relevant reporting periods.
3  Ongoing Charges (excluding fi nance costs and taxation) as a percentage of average net asset values for the reporting year (prepared in accordance with methodology 

recommended by the Association of Investment Companies). A defi nition of Ongoing Charges is in the Glossary of Terms on page 67.

Standardised Performance Total Return (%)

10 years ended
 31 December 2018

5 years ended
 31 December 2018

3 years ended
 31 December 2018

1 year ended
 31 December 2018

-15.4 -16.2 -8.3

+36.6
+46.4

+75.6 +76.4
+64.8

+31.4

+159.0

+204.2

+96.0

NAV per ordinary share
Ordinary share price
Reference Index (in sterling terms)

Sources: Fidelity and Datastream.
Past performance is not a guide to future returns.

Summary of Results
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Chairman’s Statement

Performance Review
It is disappointing to have to report that over the period under 
review, the Company’s net asset value (“NAV”) per share fell by 
15.4% in sterling terms while the share price declined by 16.2%, 
underperforming the Reference Index, which returned -8.3%. 
The performance had been good up until September 2018, but 
market sentiment deteriorated rapidly in the final three months 
of the year and returns turned negative. The sell-off in the fourth 
quarter impacted all assets globally, such that 2018 was a 
negative year generally. Despite this, on a three year basis your 
Company was still well ahead of the average of the peer group 
as well as the Reference Index. 

Holdings in machinery related companies were sold on concerns 
over US-China trade tensions and a slowdown in the global 
economy. At the same time, the Company was underweight 
in low growth defensive sectors, such as utilities and land 
transportation, which further constrained performance in an 
environment of uncertainty. On a positive note, individual 
stock picks among innovative services and consumer related 
companies added value. 

Since the end of the reporting year and up to 28 February 2019, 
performance has been positive. The NAV per share return was 
9.1%, the share price return was 8.3% and the Reference Index 
return was 1.6%. Over the same two months, the Company’s NAV 
per share return ranked number one amongst the peer group.

Management Fees
As mentioned in last year’s Annual Report, the Board agreed 
a new fee structure with the Manager which was effective from 
1 July 2018. The new fee reduced the annual fee from 0.85% of 
gross assets to 0.70% of net assets. In addition, with effect from 
1 October 2018, there is a +/- 0.20% variable fee which is based 
on performance relative to the Reference Index. The maximum 
fee that the Company would therefore pay is 0.90% of net assets. 
However, if the Company underperforms against the Reference 
Index, then the overall fee could fall as low as 0.50% of net 
assets. The change from using gross assets to net assets provides 
a significant reduction in the base fee taking into account the 
current level of gearing.

As a result of the underperformance of the Company in the last 
three months of the year, the management fee was 0.81% of net 
assets, partly reflecting the higher fee in the first half of the year 
under the previous arrangement. Had the previous management 
fee agreement been in place for the whole of 2018 the fee for 
the year would have been £2,229,000. Therefore, the new fee 
agreement has resulted in a saving of £386,000. 

Ongoing Charges
The ongoing charges for the reporting year were 1.10% which is 
lower than the previous year’s figure of 1.31% and a reduction from 
2.17% over the last ten years. The AIC Japan Peer Group average 
was 0.85%. It is expected that the Company’s ongoing charges will 
reduce even further in 2019 as the new fee arrangement will have 
been in place for a full year.

Gearing
The Company continues to gear the portfolio through the use of 
long contracts for difference (“CFDs”). Total portfolio exposure at 
the end of the year was £216.0m, equating to gearing of 15.2% 

I am pleased to present the 
Annual Report of Fidelity Japan 
Trust PLC for the year ended 
31 December 2018.
David Robins, Chairman

£187.5m 
(As at 31 December 2018) 
Shareholders’ Funds

-15.4%
(Year ended 31 December 2018) 
Net Asset Value per Ordinary 
Share total return
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compared with 18.7% at the end of 2017. Further information can 
be found on page 12 of the Strategic Report.

The Board continues to be of the view that using CFDs provides 
more flexibility for the Company’s needs at a much lower cost 
than traditional bank debt, despite the low level of interest rates.

Due Diligence Trip
Towards the end of January 2019, the Board carried out a 
due diligence visit to Japan, having not undertaken such a trip 
since 2017. Starting in Tokyo, we visited Fidelity International’s 
Japanese office, met with its analysts and reviewed Fidelity’s 
investment and research processes. We also met with several 
economists and market specialists which allowed us to formulate 
a good overview of the current backdrop in Japan and better 
understand the context in which the team is investing.

We then attended company meetings with internet shopping 
operator Zozo and ARUHI, a provider of customer focused 
mortgage products. Having travelled to Hamamatsu, we visited 
musical instrument manufacturer Yamaha Corporation and 
undertook a tour of its innovation centre. Yamaha Corporation 
is also a producer of audio/visual products, semiconductors, 
machine tools and industrial robots. In Anjō City, Aichi Prefecture, 
we also met with power tools manufacturer Makita. The trip 
ended in Kyoto, where we met with and were taken on a factory 
tour of Shimadzu, a producer of precision instruments, measuring 
instruments and medical equipment. 

Sarah MacAulay testing Yamaha Corporation’s new audio/visual 
product which is being utilised in computer gaming.

Representatives of the Board meeting with Senior Management of 
Makita.

These meetings allowed us to observe both the Portfolio Manager 
and Fidelity’s analysts in action as they discussed and challenged 
management teams and allowed us to develop better informed 
views of some of the major holdings in the portfolio.

Members of the Board, together with Portfolio Manager, Nicholas 
Price, undertaking a tour of Yamaha Corporation’s innovation centre.

Company Changes
At the Annual General Meeting on 22 May 2018, shareholders 
approved various changes to the Company. Briefly, these 
included the adoption of a revised investment objective which 
better reflects the Portfolio Manager’s investment approach of 
investing across all sectors of the market. This also allows the 
Portfolio Manager greater flexibility in moving between market 
capitalisation segments as opportunities arise and increases the 
allocation permitted in unlisted investments from 5% to 10% of 
gross assets. The Portfolio Manager can thus invest in companies 
before they are brought to the wider stock market in an Initial 
Public Offering (“IPO”), a strategy which was successfully 
achieved with Raksul during the year. 

The Company also adopted the name of Fidelity Japan Trust 
PLC and the Reference Index was changed to the TOPIX Index 
(“Tokyo Stock Exchange TOPIX Total Return Index” in sterling 
terms) from the Russell Nomura Mid/Small Cap Index (in sterling 
terms). In addition, the Company also moved to the wider AIC 
Japan peer group.

The Board believes that these changes better align with the 
opportunities available to the Portfolio Manager and should 
improve the long term marketability of the Company.

Board Changes
Further to the announcement made on 1 February 2018 and in 
last year’s Annual Report, Mami Mizutori resigned as a non-
executive Director of the Company to take up a high profile 
position with the United Nations. 

The Board was pleased to welcome Sarah MacAulay and David 
Graham who were both appointed as non-executive Directors 
on 22 May 2018. They will also serve as members of the Audit, 
Management Engagement and Nomination Committees. 

Sarah has twenty years of Asian investment experience, 
managing and marketing portfolios across numerous jurisdictions. 
She is a non-executive Director of Schroder Asian Total Return 
Investment Company plc, Aberdeen New Thai Investment Trust plc 
and JPMorgan Multi-Asset Trust plc. Previously she was a Director 
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Chairman’s Statement continued

of Baring Asset Management (Asia) Limited and Asian Investment 
Manager at Kleinwort Benson and also Eagle Star.

David is a Chartered Accountant and a non-executive Director of 
Templeton Emerging Markets Investment Trust plc and JPMorgan 
Chinese Investment Trust plc. He also serves on the boards of 
DSP India Investment Fund and DSP India Fund, both umbrella 
fund structures providing access to Indian equity and fixed 
income markets. His career has been in investment management, 
firstly as a Japanese and Asian Fund Manager with Lazards and 
then building businesses, establishing offices and managing 
client relationships for BlackRock across Japan, Asia Pacific, UK, 
Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Sarah and David will be subject to election by shareholders at 
the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) on 21 May 2019. All other 
Directors are subject to annual re-election. Biographical details 
of the full Board are included on page 22 to assist shareholders 
when considering their voting at the AGM.

Discount Management and Share Repurchases and Treasury 
Shares
During the reporting year, 470,500 ordinary shares were 
repurchased for holding in Treasury. Since the year end, and as 
at the date of this report, 190,033 ordinary shares have been 
repurchased for holding in Treasury.

Brexit
The Board is mindful of the uncertainty caused by Brexit and 
continues to monitor any impact on the Company. That being 
said, as the Company is a UK business with predominantly UK 
investors and no overseas suppliers, the Board’s focus is on the 
impact of market and investment risk as well as the potential 
impact on the exchange rate.

Annual General Meeting
The AGM of the Company will be held at 4.00pm on 21 May 2019 
at Fidelity’s offices at 25 Cannon Street, London EC4M 5TA 
(nearest tube stations are St Paul’s or Mansion House). Full 
details of the meeting are given on pages 60 to 62.

The AGM is the most important meeting that the Board has 
with shareholders each year and we encourage all investors to 
attend. The Board looks forward to the opportunity to speak to 
shareholders of the Company. The Portfolio Manager will also 
provide a presentation on the past year and the prospects for 
the coming year.

Continuation Vote
The Board recommends that shareholders vote in support of 
the resolution to approve the continuation of the Company for a 
further three years which is being proposed at the AGM. Despite 
the disappointing performance during the reporting year, the 
Board would draw shareholders’ attention to the table on page 
20 and the chart on page 31 showing the ten year record of the 
Company and its cumulative outperformance over that decade 
against the Reference Index.

Outlook
Macroeconomic fundamentals remain stable in Japan and the 
stock market has rebounded from the fourth quarter sell-off. 
However, markets generally remain susceptible to the effects 
of trade frictions on the global economy and slowing growth 
in China and Europe. While external headwinds may prove 
challenging at times, a benign domestic economic and policy 
backdrop together with attractive valuations are supportive of 
Japanese equities. We, as a Board, remain confident in the 
long term future of the Company as our Portfolio Manager takes 
advantage of the growth opportunities identified by him and his 
research team.

David Robins
Chairman
28 March 2019
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Portfolio Manager’s Review

Question

What has the market environment been 
like in the year under review?

Answer

The Japanese equity market faced increasing headwinds as the 
year progressed, with an escalation of global risk factors causing 
a sharp downturn in sentiment. Tightening financial conditions in 
the US, concerns over the momentum of global growth, the threat 
of a US-China trade war, and political tensions in Europe created 
a persistent sense of uncertainty. As these concerns spread 
across asset markets, overseas investors turned aggressive sellers 
of Japanese equities and the fourth quarter in 2018 marked the 
steepest decline since the global financial crisis ten years ago. 

The increased risk aversion, combined with Brexit uncertainties 
and weaker economic data in the UK, saw the yen appreciate 
to ¥140 against sterling, which offered some support for sterling-
based returns. 

In this environment, sector returns displayed a clear tilt towards 
defensive and domestic oriented groups. Only power utilities 
ended the year in positive territory, despite seeing an overall 
decline in earnings. Conversely, commodity and material stocks, 
as well as China related cyclicals, experienced the steepest 
declines. In terms of style, earnings, quality and value related 
factors all suffered, and proved challenging for stock-pickers. Low 
foreign ownership stocks outperformed given the deterioration in 
foreign investors’ risk appetite. 

The increase in market volatility and the rotation towards 
defensive sectors and styles came despite the continued, 
albeit slowing, growth in corporate earnings and solid 
domestic fundamentals, particularly in terms of increasingly 
tight employment conditions. From a valuation perspective, 
Japanese stocks priced in a significant degree of risk and look 
undervalued. With valuations at historical lows in some parts of 
the market, there are opportunities to capitalise on unwarranted 
discounts, as well as disconnects between excessively negative 
market sentiment and the more encouraging prospects for 
companies in the mid to long term.

Nicholas Price was appointed 
as Portfolio Manager of 
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC on 
1 September 2015. He joined 
Fidelity Investments Japan in 
1993 as a research analyst. He 
became a portfolio manager 
in 1999 and has since been 
managing a number of 
Japanese equity portfolios on 
behalf of both domestic and 
overseas clients.



Job No: 36716 Proof Event:37 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Fidelity Project Title: FJT Annual Report T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

06
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC | Annual Report 2018

Question

What have been the key contributors to 
performance? And detractors?

Answer

The Company benefited from the strong contribution from 
holdings in Yamaha Corporation (a maker of musical 
instruments), Raksul (a provider of online printing services) and 
Asahi Intecc (a manufacturer of medical equipment). Ultimately, 
however, stock selection drives performance and the aggregate 
level of contribution was negative over the year. Individual 
holdings that weighed on returns included Sysmex (a maker of 
clinical laboratory equipment), Yume no Machi Souzou Iinkai 
(a provider of online food delivery services) and UT Group (a 
worker dispatch company). These companies are still held in the 
portfolio.

Question

Have there been any significant changes 
to your strategy?

Answer

No, there has been no significant change to my underlying 
investment approach or strategy. The Company continues 
to be driven by stock specific factors, with a preference for 
companies with attractive business models that can exceed 
earnings expectations over the mid term. I aim to generate 
outperformance from holdings in consistent growth companies 
across the market cap spectrum and to identify signs of positive 
change over the mid to long term. In particular, mid and small 
cap growth stocks continue to provide a wealth of under-
researched, compelling investment opportunities in Japan.

In line with this approach, areas where I see potential investment 
opportunities in the coming year include:

•  Stable growth companies that can increase earnings as the 
global economy shifts from acceleration to stabilisation.

•  High quality services and machinery companies geared 
to structural growth trends, such as recruitment, medical 
technology and automation.

•  Under-researched companies with new and interesting 
business models, and unlisted opportunities.

Question

A number of interesting new business 
models have come to market this year. 
Have you been seeing investment 
opportunities in the Initial Public Offering 
(“IPO”) space?

Answer

The position in printing services company Raksul, which 
successfully listed on the TSE Mothers Index at the end of May 
2018, made a strong contribution to returns over the year. 
Indeed, the value of the Company’s original investment in Raksul 
quadrupled following the IPO, showing the success that can be 
had from investing in companies at the pre-IPO stage.

There has been a steady increase in IPOs since the global 
financial crisis in 2008. We typically see around 100 IPOs per 
year in Japan, predominantly on the TSE Mothers and other start-
up markets. We continue to look for early stage ideas, particularly 
among innovative services and internet based companies, 
although, at the end of the review period, the portfolio did not 
hold any unlisted securities.

Question

Japan is more exposed than many 
other countries to the vagaries of global 
trade. How concerned are you about a 
strengthened yen and the macro picture 
more broadly?

Answer

Despite a slowdown in external demand, economic activity 
in Japan is likely to be sustained by domestic demand, with 
inflation remaining subdued and the Bank of Japan maintaining 
its existing monetary policy. Under such conditions, I would not 
expect the portfolio to face significant headwinds. 

The key risk factors that could derail this scenario are a 
significant deterioration in economic conditions among Japan’s 
major trading partners, a further escalation of trade frictions 
between the US and China, and sustained yen strength, which 
tends to impact the market negatively. 

Having said that, the portfolio is neutral in terms of currency 
exposure versus the Reference Index and tends to have a higher 
weighting towards domestic oriented companies in the mid 
and small cap space. Indeed, 70% of the portfolio’s underlying 
revenue streams are generated within Japan. 

Portfolio Manager’s Review continued
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One concern I do have is how the secondary effects of a 
sustained reversal in global trade and the economic cycle would 
affect certain companies held in the portfolio. For example, 
providers of staffing and recruitment services such as UT Group 
and Recruit Holdings would be susceptible to the scaling back 
of corporate activity and associated demand for labour. This 
is something that we continue to watch closely for specific 
companies in the portfolio.

Question

What have been the major changes to 
the portfolio over the period?

Answer

The Company’s allocation to the diverse chemicals sector has 
been increased, primarily through holdings in Kosé and NOF. 
Cosmetics company Kosé is evolving into a global growth 
company by expanding overseas sales of its high-end products, 
particularly in China, where its brand appeal is steadily rising. 
NOF is a highly profitable maker of niche chemicals, including 
surfactants (raw materials for cosmetics and toiletry related 
products) and drug delivery systems. It is a relatively under-
researched company that is gradually gaining recognition for the 
stability of its earnings growth and generous shareholder returns. 
Among domestic oriented companies, new positions in unique 
growth companies have been added, including Don Quijote 
(discount stores) and Kamakura Shinsho (funeral services). 

Conversely, I took profits in the pharmaceuticals sector, especially 
in Nippon Shinyaku, which had been a strong performer over the 
past three years and faced increasing competition. I also sold 
the position in robot maker Fanuc amid slowing demand from the 

smartphone industry. The holding in life insurer Dai-ichi Life was 
sold on reduced expectations for long term interest rates. 

Meanwhile, the Company continues to have a relatively large 
exposure to the services, electric appliances and machinery 
sectors. Key positions include Recruit Holdings (staffing/
recruitment), Makita (power tools) and Keyence (factory 
automation sensors). Conversely, low growth defensive sectors 
and interest rate sensitive financials have limited representation 
in the portfolio.

Question

How has your use of gearing changed 
over the period under review?

Answer

The Japanese market advanced strongly in 2017 and I took 
profits in stocks that had outperformed, as well as those at 
relatively high valuations. Towards the end of 2018, I capitalised 
on the steep market correction to increase positions in oversold 
electronics and machinery stocks. This is reflected in the rise in 
gearing from 15.2% as at 31 December 2018 to 16.1% at the end 
of February 2019.

As we move into the final stages of Japan’s fiscal year which 
ends in March 2019, I am inclined to see how stocks behave in 
relation to earnings announcements and selectively add names 
as I see fit. New investment ideas are also opportunities which 
may lead to a moderate increase in the Company’s level of 
gearing. These new ideas include, for example, companies that 
are likely to be considered more favourably as internal change 
leads to a period of renewed growth.
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Portfolio Manager’s Review continued

Question

What is your outlook for the months 
ahead?

Answer

We have seen investors become increasingly anxious about 
the economic cycle and the timing of the next downturn, as 
evidenced by the recent weakness in financial markets. Despite 
the increased volatility in risk assets, global economic indicators 
remain relatively positive and do not suggest that the cycle 
is about to end abruptly. The Japanese economy is stable, 
supported by growth in employment and business spending. The 
Bank of Japan is likely to maintain its existing policy framework 
and countermeasures will be deployed to mitigate the effects 
of the October 2019 consumption tax hike. While growth is set 
to moderate in line with global trends, the Japanese economy 
should continue to expand above its long term rate.

Whilst central banks appear to be holding back from further 
normalisation/tightening of monetary policy, trade frictions and 
the outlook for both the Chinese economy and the European 
Union are key risks. Global trade growth has already slowed 
and the threat from US-China tensions is impacting sentiment. 
In addition, the market may suffer further setbacks as a result of 
ongoing tensions on the Korean Peninsula. 

The outlook for equity returns is tempered by slowing earnings 
growth. While this has already been priced in to a large extent, it 
may have been overdone given that the dislocation between low 
volatility stocks, where prices have been inflated, and cyclicals is 
now evident. 

In the absence of a global recession, Japanese companies 
should continue to deliver moderate earnings growth in the mid 
to upper single digit range. Combined with attractive valuations, 
a benign policy backdrop and progress in structural reforms, the 
risk/reward balance for Japanese stocks is favourable over the 
mid to long term.

Nicholas Price
Portfolio Manager
28 March 2019
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Top 10 Holdings
as at 31 December 2018 
(based on Portfolio Exposure expressed as a percentage of Shareholders’ Funds)

Kosé

Portfolio Exposure 6.8%

Founded in 1946, Japanese 
cosmetics giant Kosé has over 
7,500 employees. The company’s 
management attributes its historic 
success to providing high quality 
products at the right price and the 
tradition continues today. It had a 
programme throughout 2018 aimed 
at strengthening global brands, 
enhancing product competitiveness 
and increasing profitability.

Industry: Personal Goods

Yamaha Corporation

Portfolio Exposure 5.7%

Yamaha Corporation is the world’s 
number one manufacturer of 
pianos and was founded in 1897. 
The corporate slogan is ‘sharing 
passion and performance.’ Yamaha 
Corporation’s current medium term 
management plan indicates that 
the company’s basic strategy is to 
consolidate competitive superiority by 
adding value and differentiation. 

Industry: Leisure Goods

Makita

Portfolio Exposure 5.5%

Makita is a leading power tools 
company. It has factories in Brazil, 
Canada, China, Japan, Mexico, 
Romania and the UK. Makita also has 
operations in Germany and the US. 
The company was founded in 1915 
and is known for producing the first 
rechargeable power tool, a battery 
powered drill. The company has a 
significant market share of the world’s 
power tool market.

Industry: Household Goods & 
Home Construction

Keyence

Portfolio Exposure 4.7%

Keyence engineers, manufactures 
and distributes automation sensors, 
measuring systems, laser markers, 
microscopes and machine vision 
systems. The company is a key name 
in factory automation. Keyence has 
repeatedly featured in the Forbes 
Top 100 most innovative companies 
list. Its global network comprises over 
200 offices in more than 45 countries. 
The company also stands out for its 
consultative approach to sales, as well 
as the fast delivery of its products.

Industry: Electronic & Electrical 
Equipment

Recruit Holdings

Portfolio Exposure 5.8%

Recruit Holdings delivers integrated 
human resource services to its 
clients. The company was formed in 
the 1960s, initially focusing on the 
graduate job market. In the period 
under review, Recruit Holdings 
acquired the US company Glassdoor 
for $1.2bn allowing it access to a 
sizable database of reviews and 
salary information. The acquisition 
was one of a series of overseas 
investments in a bid for Recruit 
Holdings to expand its overseas 
market reach.

Industry: Support Services
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Daikin Industries

Portfolio Exposure 3.8%

Daikin Industries is a manufacturer 
of air-conditioning equipment. The 
company has over 90 worldwide 
production bases and its products 
are sold in more than 150 countries. 
It has maintained a top market 
share globally in the air-conditioner 
business since 2010. At present the 
company is committed to reducing 
the environmental impact of air 
conditioning as well as improving new 
technologies.

Industry: Construction & 
Materials

MISUMI Group

Portfolio Exposure 3.7%

The MISUMI Group provides fixed 
and configurable components to 
the manufacturing industry. The 
company operates in three segments: 
mechanical components; flat belt 
conveyors; and locator devices and 
measurement equipment. MISUMI 
Group also manufactures metal press 
components such as gas springs and 
ejector pins. The company features 
a one-stop distribution service which 
offers their customers more than 10 
million items including rival products.

Industry: Industrial Engineering

M3

Portfolio Exposure 3.1%

Established in 2000 under the service 
name So-net, M3 is a supplier of 
network related medical services. The 
company’s name M3 is a reference to 
‘medicine, media and metamorphosis’. 
The management team at M3 aims 
to use the potential of the internet 
to deliver medical information to 
both clinical and research users 
in as time efficient a manner as 
possible. M3.com is a members only 
website built to service healthcare 
professionals.

Industry: Media

Shimano

Portfolio Exposure 3.2%

Shimano is a world leader in the 
manufacture of cycling components, 
rowing equipment and fishing tackle. 
In March 2021 the company will 
celebrate 100 years since its founding. 
The management team states that 
it has “inherited an enthusiastic 
commitment to creating truly reliable 
products with an uncompromising 
attitude towards manufacturing 
quality.” 

Industry: Leisure Goods

Sysmex

Portfolio Exposure 3.4%

Sysmex, founded in 1968, is a 
medical equipment manufacturer 
with a high market share in reagents 
and equipment for clinical tests. 
The company is also engaged in 
the marketing of extracorporeal 
diagnostic agents as well as the 
import and sale of medical devices. 
It has a high overseas sales ratio of 
around 80%, distributing to more than 
190 countries worldwide.

Industry: Healthcare Equipment 
and services

Top 10 Holdings continued
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Strategic Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the Strategic Report of 
the Company. The Chairman’s Statement and Portfolio Manager’s 
Review on pages 2 to 8 also form part of the Strategic Report.

Business and Status
The Company carries on business as an investment company 
and has been accepted as an approved investment trust by 
HM Revenue & Customs under Sections 1158 and 1159 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010, subject to the Company continuing to 
meet eligibility conditions. The Directors are of the opinion that 
the Company has conducted its affairs in a manner which will 
satisfy the conditions for continued approval.

The Company is registered as an investment company under 
Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006 and its ordinary shares 
are listed and traded on the London Stock Exchange. It is not a 
close company and has no employees.

Objective
Shareholders approved the change to the Company’s investment 
objective at the AGM on 22 May 2018 to state that: 

The Company aims to achieve long term capital growth by 
investing predominantly in equities and related securities of 
Japanese companies.

Previously the objective had been to achieve long term capital 
growth from an actively managed portfolio of securities, primarily 
of small and medium sized Japanese companies, listed or traded 
on Japanese stockmarkets.

Strategy
In order to achieve this objective, the Company operates as an 
investment company and has an actively managed portfolio of 
investments, consisting predominantly of Japanese companies. 
As an investment company it is able to gear the portfolio and the 
Board takes the view that long term returns for shareholders can 
be enhanced by the use of gearing in a carefully considered and 
monitored way.

As part of the strategy, the Board has delegated the 
management of the portfolio and certain other services to 
Fidelity. The Portfolio Manager aims to achieve a total return on 
the Company’s total assets over the longer term in excess of the 
Reference Index, the TOPIX Index*, as expressed in sterling terms. 
The stock selection approach adopted by the Portfolio Manager 
is considered to be well suited to achieving the objective. The 
Board considers that investing in equities is a long term process 
and, given the cyclicality of the markets, expects that the 
Company’s returns to shareholders will vary from year-to-year.

Although the Company’s objective has changed as stated above, 
the strategy has largely remained unchanged throughout the year 
ended 31 December 2018.

Investment Management Philosophy, Style and Process
The Portfolio Manager follows a consistent “growth at a 
reasonable price” investment style and approach, which involves 

* The Company’s Reference Index changed from the Russell Nomura Mid/Small Cap 
Index (in sterling terms) to the TOPIX Index (in sterling terms) on 22 May 2018.

identifying companies in all areas of the market whose growth 
prospects are under appreciated or not fully recognised by 
other investors. He utilises Fidelity’s local research capability, as 
well as the broader global research network. His approach is 
anchored in the belief that a rigorous, bottom-up approach to 
active management can identify companies where the market is 
underestimating or mis-pricing future growth potential.

Investment Policy
Under the revised investment policy, the Company primarily 
invests in companies which are listed on Japanese stock 
exchanges. The portfolio is selected by the Portfolio Manager on 
the basis of his assessment of the fundamental value available in 
individual situations and with a typical focus on those companies 
whose growth prospects are not fully recognised by the market 
(“growth at a reasonable price”). Whilst the Company’s 
overall exposure to individual companies and industry sectors 
is monitored, the portfolio is not restricted in terms of size or 
industry, although certain investment restrictions apply in order to 
diversify risk.

No material change will be made to the investment policy without 
shareholder approval.

Investment Restrictions
In order to diversify the Company’s portfolio, the Board has set 
the following investment guidelines for the Portfolio Manager. 
These guidelines and their impact are monitored on a daily basis 
and reported regularly to the Board:

•  A maximum of 7.5% in the aggregate of all securities of any 
one company or other investment entity (10% for any group 
of companies) at the time of purchase, which is further 
limited to 12% of the Company’s equity portfolio based on 
the latest market value. 

•  A maximum of 10% of its assets (at the time of acquisition) 
in securities which are not listed on any stock exchange 
or traded on the Jasdaq market. The Company would 
not normally make any such investment except where the 
Manager expects that the securities would shortly become 
registered for trading on the OTC market or become listed 
on a Japanese stockmarket. 

•  A maximum of 30% of its assets (at the time of acquisition) in 
equity related and debt instruments. The Company may also 
invest in derivatives for efficient portfolio management to 
protect the portfolio against market risk. Any such investment 
would normally be at a low level as the Company invests 
primarily in shares. 

•  A maximum of 15% of the Company’s total assets may be 
invested in the securities of other investment trust companies. 

•  The maximum that the Company can hold in cash, or invest 
in cash equivalents, including money market instruments, 
is limited to 25% of the total value of the Company’s gross 
assets. This limit will not include any amounts required 
as collateral to cover unrealised losses on derivatives. In 
practice the cash position will normally be much lower. 
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Gearing
The Company’s policy is to be geared in the expectation that 
long term investment returns will exceed the cost of gearing. This 
gearing is obtained through the use of contracts for difference 
(“CFDs”) to obtain exposure to Japanese equities selected by the 
Manager. The effect of gearing is to magnify the consequence of 
market movements on the portfolio. If the portfolio value rises, the 
NAV will be positively impacted. Conversely if it falls, the NAV will 
be adversely impacted.

The aggregate exposure of the Company to Japanese 
equities, whether held directly or through CFDs, will not exceed 
shareholders’ funds by more than 30% at the time any CFD is 
entered into or a security acquired. The Board also intends that 
the exposure will not exceed shareholders’ funds by more than 
40% at any other time unless exceptional circumstances exist.

The level of gearing is reviewed regularly by the Board and the 
Portfolio Manager. Currently the Portfolio Manager has discretion 
to be up to 25% geared. At the year end the Company was 15.2% 
geared (2017: 18.7%).

Performance 
The Company’s performance for the year ended 31 December 
2018, including a summary of the year’s activities, and details 
on trends and factors that may impact the future performance of 
the Company are included in the Chairman’s Statement and the 
Portfolio Manager’s Review on pages 2 to 8. The Portfolio Listing, 
Distribution of the Portfolio, Ten Year Record and Summary of 
Performance Charts are on pages 16 to 21.

Results
The Company’s results for the year ended 31 December 2018 
are set out in the Income Statement on page 42. The revenue 
loss was 0.07 pence and the capital loss was 25.22 pence, giving 
a total loss of 25.29 pence per ordinary share. As the revenue 
reserve is in deficit, the Directors do not recommend the payment 
of a dividend.

Key Performance Indicators
The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) used to determine the 
performance of the Company and which are comparable to 
those reported by other investment companies are set out in the 
table in the next column.

Year ended
 31 December

 2018
%

Year ended
 31 December

 2017
%

NAV per ordinary share total 
return1 -15.4 +34.1

Share price total return1 -16.2 +49.3

Reference Index (in sterling terms)2 
total return -8.3 +17.5

Discount to NAV 8.5 7.7

Ongoing Charges 1.10 1.31

1 Alternative Performance Measures. See Note 19 on page 58.
2  The Reference Index changed on 22 May 2018 from the Russell Nomura Mid/

Small Cap Index (in sterling terms) to the TOPIX Index (in sterling terms). Therefore, 
the Reference Index reported above is a blend of the two for the relevant 
reporting periods.

Sources: Fidelity and Datastream.

In addition to the KPIs above, the Board regularly reviews the 
Company’s performance against its peer group of investment 
companies. Long term performance taking account of the 
Ten Year Record and the Summary of Performance Charts on 
pages 20 and 21, is also monitored.

The Board regularly considers the costs of running the Company 
in order to ensure that they remain reasonable and competitive. 
The Board was pleased, in this context, to have agreed a new 
fee structure with the Manager, which was effective from 1 July 
2018. The variable element of this fee structure took effect from 
1 October 2018.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties and Risk Management
As required by provision C.2.1 of the 2016 UK Corporate 
Governance Code, the Board has a robust ongoing process 
for identifying, evaluating and managing the principal risks 
and uncertainties faced by the Company, including those that 
would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency 
or liquidity. The Board, with the assistance of the Alternative 
Investment Fund Manager (FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited/
the “Manager”), has developed a risk matrix which, as part of 
the risk management and internal controls process, identifies 
the key risks that the Company faces. The risks identified are 
placed on the Company’s risk matrix and graded appropriately. 
This process, together with the policies and procedures for the 
mitigation of risks, is updated and reviewed regularly in the form 
of comprehensive reports considered by the Audit Committee. 
The Board determines the nature and extent of any risks it is 
willing to take in order to achieve its strategic objectives.

The Manager also has responsibility for risk management for the 
Company. It works with the Board to identify and manage the 
principal risks and uncertainties and to ensure that the Board can 
continue to meet its UK corporate governance obligations.

Strategic Report continued
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The Board considers the following as the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company. There have been no material 
changes to these since the prior year.

Principal Risks Description and Risk Mitigation

Market risk The Company’s assets consist mainly of listed securities and the principal risks are, therefore, 
market related such as market downturn, interest rate movements and exchange rate movements. 
The Portfolio Manager’s success or failure to protect and increase the Company’s assets against 
this background is core to the Company’s continued success.

Risks to which the Company is exposed in the market risk category are included in Note 16 to the 
Financial Statements on pages 53 to 57 together with summaries of the policies for managing 
these risks.

Performance risk The achievement of the Company’s performance objective relative to the market requires the 
application of risks such as strategy, asset allocation and stock selection of the portfolio and 
the risk associated with Japan and industry sectors within the parameters of the objective and 
strategy. The Portfolio Manager is responsible for actively monitoring the portfolio selected in 
accordance with the asset allocation parameters and seeks to ensure that individual stocks meet 
an acceptable risk/reward profile. The emphasis is on long term results as the Company is more 
exposed to volatility in the shorter term. The Company’s objective and investment policy, its name, 
the Reference Index and the peer group have changed in the reporting year, to more accurately 
reflect how the Portfolio Manager manages the portfolio.

Geopolitical risk Political change can also impact the Company’s assets, such as a US led trade war, 
North Korean tensions and Brexit risks. Further commentary on these risks is contained in 
the Chairman’s Statement and Portfolio Manager’s Review on pages 2 to 8. The Portfolio 
Manager’s success or failure to protect and increase the Company’s assets against this 
background is core to the Company’s continued success.

Discount control risk The Board cannot control the discount at which the Company’s ordinary share price trades 
in relation to net asset value. However, it can have a modest influence in the market by 
maintaining the profile of the Company through a marketing campaign and, under certain 
circumstances, through repurchasing shares. The Company’s share price, NAV and discount 
volatility are monitored daily by the Manager and considered by the Board regularly.

Gearing risk The Company has the option to make use of loan facilities or to use CFDs to invest in equities. 
The principal risk is that the Portfolio Manager may fail to use gearing effectively. In a rising 
market the Company will benefit from gearing, whilst in a falling market the impact would 
be detrimental. Other risks are that the cost of gearing may be too high or that the term of 
the gearing is inappropriate in relation to market conditions. The Company currently has no 
bank loans and gears through the use of long CFDs which provide greater flexibility and are 
significantly cheaper than bank loans. The Board regularly considers the level of gearing and 
gearing risk and sets limits within which the Portfolio Manager must operate.

Currency risk Most of the Company’s assets and income are denominated in yen. However, the functional 
currency of the Company in which it reports its results is sterling. Consequently, it is subject to 
currency risk on exchange rate movements between yen and sterling. It is the Company’s policy 
not to hedge against currency risks. Further details can be found in Note 16 to the Financial 
Statements on pages 53 to 57.

Other risks facing the Company include:

Cybercrime Risk
The risk from cybercrime is significant and the Board receives 
regular updates from the Manager on emerging cybercrime 
threats. The Manager’s technology team continues with initiatives 
to strengthen the control environment in relation to this ever 
increasing threat.

Tax and Regulatory Risks
There is a risk to the Company of not complying with tax and 
regulatory requirements. A breach of Section 1158 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010 could lead to a loss of investment trust 
status resulting in the Company being subject to tax on capital 
gains.
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The Board monitors tax and regulatory changes at each Board 
meeting and through active engagement with regulators and 
trade bodies by the Manager.

Operational Risks
The Company relies on a number of third party service providers, 
principally the Manager, Registrar, Custodian and Depositary. 
It is dependent on the effective operation of the Manager’s 
control systems and those of its service providers with regard 
to the security of the Company’s assets, dealing procedures, 
accounting records and the compliance of regulatory and legal 
requirements. The Registrar, Custodian and Depositary are all 
subject to a risk-based programme of internal audits by the 
Manager. In addition, service providers’ own internal controls 
reports are received by the Board on an annual basis and any 
concerns are investigated.

Continuation Vote
A continuation vote takes place every three years. There is a risk 
that shareholders do not vote in favour of continuation of the 
Company during periods when performance of the Company’s 
NAV and share price is poor. At the Company’s AGM held on 
24 May 2016, 99.49% of shareholders voted in favour of the 
continuation of the Company. The next continuation vote will take 
place at this year’s AGM on 21 May 2019 and the Directors 
expect this will be approved. See the Chairman’s statement on 
page 4 for further details.

Viability Statement
In accordance with provision C.2.2 of the 2016 UK Corporate 
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the prospects of 
the Company over a longer period than the twelve month period 
required by the “Going Concern” basis. The Company is an 
investment trust with the objective of achieving long term capital 
growth. The Board considers that three years is an appropriate 
investment horizon to assess the viability of the Company, 
although the life of the Company is not intended to be limited to 
this or any other period. 

In making an assessment of the viability of the Company, the 
Board has taken account of the Company’s current position, the 
principal risks that it faces and their potential impact on its future 
development and prospects and the Company’s objective and 
strategy. The Company’s working capital is strong because the 
portfolio mainly comprises readily realisable securities which 
can be sold to meet funding requirements if necessary and the 
operating costs and income are modest in comparison to the 
Company’s total assets. Furthermore, Japanese equities have 
a long term future and the Manager has a strong track record 
for delivering positive returns over the long term in this sector. 
The Directors, therefore, confirm that they have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in 
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the three 
year period of assessment.

In addition, the Directors’ assessment of the Company’s ability 
to operate in the foreseeable future is included in the Going 
Concern Statement in the Directors’ Report on page 23. 
As previously mentioned, the Company is also subject to a 
continuation vote at the AGM on 21 May 2019 and based on the 
factors mentioned above, together with the Company’s long term 

performance, the Board has a reasonable expectation that this 
vote will be approved.

Board Diversity
The Board carries out any candidate search against a set of 
objective criteria on the basis of merit, with due regard for 
the benefits of diversity on the Board, including gender. At 
31 December 2018, there were five male Directors and one 
female Director on the Board. 

Employee, Social, Community and Human Rights Issues
The Company has no employees and all of its Directors are 
non-executive and its day-to-day activities are carried out by third 
parties. There are therefore no disclosures to make in respect of 
employees.

The Fidelity group of companies (including the Manager, FIL 
Investment Services (UK) Limited and FIL Investment International) 
encourages the application of Environmental, Social and 
Governance (“ESG”) factors in its investment decision making 
process. It has been a signatory to the United Nations Principles 
for Responsible Investment (UNPRI) since 2012 and submits an 
annual return detailing how it incorporates ESG into its investment 
analysis.

The Company has not adopted a policy on human rights as it 
has no employees and its operational processes are delegated. 
As an investment company, the Company does not provide 
goods and services in the normal course of business and has no 
customers. Accordingly, the Board considers that the Company is 
not within the scope of the Modern Slavery Act 2015.

The Company’s financial reports are printed by a company which 
has won awards for its environmental awareness and further 
details of this can be found on the back cover of this report.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
As an investment trust, the Company’s own direct environmental 
impact is minimal. The Company has no premises, consumes no 
electricity, gas or diesel fuel and consequently does not have a 
measurable carbon footprint. FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited 
and FIL Investments International are registered with the Carbon 
Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme administered by 
the Environment Agency.

Criminal Finances Act 2017
The Company is subject to the Criminal Finances Act 2017 and 
follows a zero tolerance policy to tax evasion and its facilitation. 
The Directors are fully committed to complying with all legislation 
and appropriate guidelines designed to prevent tax evasion 
and the facilitation of tax evasion in the jurisdictions in which 
the Company, its service providers, counterparties and business 
partners operate.

Bribery Act 2010
The Company is committed to carrying out business fairly, 
honestly and openly. The Board recognises the benefits this has 
for reputation and business confidence. The Board has reviewed 
the implications of the Bribery Act 2010 and confirms its zero 
tolerance to bribery and corruption in its business activities.

Strategic Report continued
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Socially Responsible Investment
The Manager’s primary objective is to produce superior financial 
returns for the Company’s shareholders. It believes that high 
standards of corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) make good 
business sense and have the potential to protect and enhance 
investment returns. Consequently, its investment process takes 
social, environmental and ethical issues into account when, in 
the Manager’s view, these have a material impact on either 
investment risk or return.

Corporate Engagement
The Board believes that the Company should, where appropriate, 
take an active interest in the affairs of the companies in which 
it invests and that it should exercise its voting rights at their 
general meetings. Unless there are any particularly controversial 
issues (which would then be referred to the Board), it delegates 
the responsibility for corporate engagement and shareholder 
voting to the Manager which updates the Board on any issues 
and activities. These activities are reviewed regularly by the 
Manager’s corporate governance team. Further details of the 
Manager’s policy on corporate engagement can be found at 
www.fidelity.co.uk.

Future Developments
Some trends likely to affect the Company in the future are also 
common to many investment companies together with the impact 
of regulatory change. The factors likely to affect the Company’s 
future development, performance and position are set out in the 
Chairman’s Statement and the Portfolio Manager’s Review on 
pages 2 to 8.

By order of the Board
FIL Investments International
Secretary
28 March 2019

https://www.fidelity.co.uk


Job No: 36716 Proof Event:37 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Fidelity Project Title: FJT Annual Report T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

16
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC | Annual Report 2018

Portfolio Listing
as at 31 December 2018

The Portfolio Exposures shown below measure exposure to market price movements as a result of owning shares and derivative 
instruments. The Balance Sheet Value is the actual value of the portfolio. Where a contract for difference (“CFD”) is held, the Balance 
Sheet Value reflects the profit or loss on the contract since it was opened and is based on how much the price of the underlying share 
has moved.

Portfolio Exposure Balance
 Sheet Value

£’000 %1 £’000

Exposures – shares unless otherwise stated

Kosé
Manufacturer of premium cosmetics 12,806 6.8 12,806

Recruit Holdings (shares and long CFD)
Provider of human resource services 10,807 5.8 4,287

Yamaha Corporation
Musical instrument and audio equipment maker 10,615 5.7 10,615

Makita (shares and long CFD)
Manufacturer of lithium-ion battery power tools 10,274 5.5 1,759

Keyence (shares and long CFD)
Maker of factory automation related sensors 8,790 4.7 4,273

Daikin Industries
Air conditioning equipment manufacturer 7,065 3.8 7,065

MISUMI Group
Distributor of precision machinery parts 6,966 3.7 6,966

Sysmex (shares and long CFD)
Producer of clinical laboratory testing 6,427 3.4 1,205

Shimano 
Manufacturer of cycling components, rowing equipment and fishing tackle 6,058 3.2 6,058

M3 (shares and long CFD)
Provider of medical related internet services 5,825 3.1 (885)

Ten largest exposures (201 7: 39.6%) 85,633  45.7 54,1 49

Other exposures

Don Quijote 5,318 2.8 5,318

Suzuki Motor 5,175 2.8 5,175

NOF 4,903 2.6 4,903

JustSystems 4,658 2.5 4,658

Eiken Chemical 4,196 2.2 4,196

ARUHI 4,192 2.2 4,192

Nojima 4,124 2.2 4,124

Kamakura Shinsho 3,937 2.1 3,937

Eizo 3,887 2.1 3,887

Raksul 3,673 2.0 3,673

Shimadzu 3,590 1.9 3,590

Renesas Electronics 3,496 1.9 3,496

Kotobuki Spirits 3,454 1.8 3,454
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Portfolio Exposure Balance
 Sheet Value

£’000 %1 £’000

Yume no Machi Souzou Iinkai 3,442 1.8 3,442

Ryohin Keikaku 2,863 1.5 2,863

UT Group 2,861 1.5 2,861

SMC 2,849 1.5 2,849

Nihon M&A Center (long CFD) 2,806 1.5 (762)

Asahi Intecc 2,739 1.5 2,739

TV Asahi Holdings 2,659 1.4 2,659

TDK 2,643 1.4 2,643

Optex Group 2,550 1.4 2,550

SMS 2,475 1.3 2,475

Sumitomo Bakelite 2,223 1.2 2,223

Zozo 2,163 1.2 2,163

ItoKuro 2,109 1.1 2,109

Komatsu 2,025 1.1 2,025

Relo Group 1,969 1.1 1,969

Nitta 1,932 1.0 1,932

Nihon Flush 1,893 1.0 1,893

SAKATA INX 1,769 0.9 1,769

Okamoto Industries 1,693 0.9 1,693

Fast Retailing 1,600 0.9 1,600

Sagami Rubber Industries 1,567 0.8 1,567

Nissei ASB Machine 1,518 0.8 1,518

Uuum 1,383 0.7 1,383

Koito Manufacturing 1,317 0.7 1,317

Digital Garage 1,278 0.7 1,278

SoftBank Group (shares and long CFD) 1,189 0.7 (34)

Taikisha 1,177 0.6 1,177

Seika 1,142 0.6 1,142

Pressance 1,140 0.6 1,140

Piolax 1,088 0.6 1,088

Medical Data Vision 1,045 0.6 1,045

CyberAgent 1,020 0.5 1,020

Apaman 943 0.5 943

Fujimi 942 0.5 942

Welbe 923 0.5 923

Hosokawa Micron 906 0.5 906
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Portfolio Exposure Balance
 Sheet Value

£’000 %1 £’000

Linkbal 888 0.5 888

Nidec 881 0.5 881

Central Automotive Products 878 0.5 878

MonotaRO 798 0.4 798

Hirano Tecseed 786 0.4 786

Open House 695 0.4 695

Tayca 636 0.3 636

Techno Smart 593 0.3 593

Tosho 588 0.3 588

Japan Material 530 0.3 530

Sharingtechnology 529 0.3 529

Fuji 491 0.3 491

Trancom 438 0.2 438

Tokyo Radiator Manufacturing 249 0.1 249

Kuriyama Holdings 243 0.1 243

Murata Manufacturing 203 0.1 203

Punch Industry 199 0.1 199

Cosmos Initia 166 0.1 166

Hokkaido Chuo Bus 118 0.1 118

Fumakilla 16 0.0 16

Total Portfolio Exposure2 216,002 115.2

 
Total Portfolio Fair Value3 179,727

 
Net current assets (excluding derivative assets and liabilities) 7,803

Shareholders’ Funds 187,530

1 Portfolio Exposure is expressed as a percentage of Shareholders’ Funds.
2 Total Portfolio Exposure comprises market exposure to investments of £185,987,000 (per Note 9: Investments on page 50) plus market exposure to derivative instruments of 

£30,015,000 (per Note 10: Derivative Instruments on page 51).
3 Total Portfolio Fair Value comprises investments of £185,987,000 plus derivative assets of £269,000 less derivative liabilities of £6,529,000 (per the Balance Sheet on 

page 44).

Portfolio Listing continued



Job No: 36716 Proof Event:37 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Fidelity Project Title: FJT Annual Report T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

19
Annual Report 2018 | Fidelity Japan Trust PLC

ST
R

A
TE

G
Y

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L
G

O
VE

RN
A
N

C
E

IN
FO

RM
AT

IO
N

 F
O

R 
SH

A
RE

H
O

LD
ER

S

Distribution of the Portfolio
as at 31 December 2018 

Portfolio Exposure

Sector
2018

%1

2017
%1

Services 19.6 15.6

Electric Appliances 16.2 13.0

Machinery 13.9 13.4

Chemicals 11.9 4.1

Information & Communications 10.7 10.9

Retail Trade 9.3 9.1

Other Products 6.7 8.6

Transport Equipment 6.1 - 

Wholesale Trade 4.9 7.7

Precision Instruments 3.4 3.8

Rubber Products 2.7 4.2

Pharmaceuticals 2.2 6.6

Other Financing Business 2.2 4.2

Foods 1.8 2.6

Real Estate 1.6 3.8

Metal Products 0.6 2.3

Construction 0.6 0.4

Glass & Ceramics 0.5 0.7

Warehousing & Harbour Transportation Services 0.2 0.2

Land Transportation 0.1 0.5

Insurance – 3.1

Securities & Commodity Futures – 1.6

Others – 1.2

Banks – 0.8

Non-ferrous Metals – 0.3

Total Portfolio Exposure 115.2 118.7

1 Portfolio Exposure is expressed as a percentage of Shareholders’ Funds.
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Ten Year Record

For the year ended 
31 December 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Assets

Total portfolio exposure (£m)1 216 264 207 135 114 105 70 77 79 68

Shareholders’ funds (£m) 188 223 1662 116 93 903 58 63 65 53

NAV per ordinary share (p) – undiluted 138.77 164.10 122.37 101.56 81.48 79.02 59.94 64.17 68.44 55.56

NAV per ordinary share (p) – diluted n/a n/a n/a 99.08 n/a n/a 59.91 62.79 66.21 55.47

Share price data

Ordinary share price (p) 127.00 151.50 101.50 86.75 72.00 72.00 51.63 52.50 57.25 48.50

Subscription share price (p) n/a n/a n/a 3.13 4.25 n/a 0.80 5.70 11.75 8.28

Discount to NAV % – undiluted 8.5 7.7 17.1 14.6 11.6 8.9 13.9 18.2 16.4 12.7

Discount to NAV % – diluted n/a n/a n/a 12.4 n/a n/a 12.8 16.4 13.5 12.6

Revenue and Costs

Revenue (loss)/return per ordinary share 
(p) (0.07) (0.22) 0.07 (0.14) (0.45) (0.30) (0.06) 0.02 (0.30) (0.73)

Ongoing charges (%) (cost of running the 
Company) 1.10 1.31 1.46 1.52 1.62 1.80 2.00 1.98 2.08 2.17

Gearing

Gearing (%) 15.2 18.7 24.3 16.6 22.2 16.8 21.0 23.2 20.9 3.8

Performance Total Returns

NAV per ordinary share – undiluted (%) -15.4 +34.1 +20.5 +24.6 +3.1 +31.8 -6.6 -6.2 +23.2 +3.7

NAV per ordinary share – diluted (%) n/a n/a n/a +21.6 n/a n/a -5.7 -5.2 +19.4 n/a

Ordinary share price (%) -16.2 +49.3 +17.0 +20.5 0.0 +39.5 -1.7 -8.3 +18.0 +16.2

Reference Index (in sterling terms) (%)4 -8.3 +17.5 +22.0 +19.4 +5.1 +21.7 -3.1 -9.3 +18.6 -6.3

1 The total exposure of the investment portfolio, including exposure to the investments underlying the long CFDs. The amount for 2009 represents total assets less creditors, 
excluding bank loans.

2 The issue of ordinary shares on the exercise of subscription share rights, contributed £19.5 million to the increase in shareholders’ funds.
3 The issue of ordinary shares on the exercise of subscription share rights, contributed £9.4 million to the increase in shareholders’ funds.
4 The Reference Index changed on 22 May 2018 from the Russell Nomura Mid/Small Cap Index (in sterling terms) to the TOPIX Index (in sterling terms). Therefore, the 

Reference Index reported for 2018 is a blend of the two for the relevant reporting periods.

Sources: Fidelity and Datastream.
Past performance is not a guide to future returns.
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Summary of Performance Charts

NAV and ordinary share price for ten years to 31 December 2018

127.00p

41.75p

138.77p

53.58p

Sources: Fidelity and Datastream.
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Board of Directors

David Robins
Chairman*  
(since 10 May 2012)
Appointed 1 February 2011

A  M  N

David Robins is a Director of NHBS Limited and SerraLux Inc. Previously, 
he was Chairman and Chief Executive of ING Barings following 18 years 
with UBS, most recently as Executive Vice President Europe having spent 
several years in Zurich, New York and Tokyo. Prior to this he was, in 
succession, a Japanese Economist at the Bank of England, an Executive 
in the Japanese department of James Capel and then Far Eastern 
Economist and subsequently Chief International Economist at Philips & 
Drew. He began his career with the Commonwealth Bank in Sydney.

David Graham
Director*
Appointed 22 May 2018

A  M  N

David Graham is a non-executive Director of Templeton Emerging 
Markets Investment Trust plc and JPMorgan Chinese Investment Trust 
plc. He also serves on the boards of DSP India Investment Fund and 
DSP India Fund, both umbrella fund structures providing access to 
Indian equity and fixed income markets. He is a Chartered Accountant 
and had a career in investment management, firstly as a Japanese 
and Asian Fund Manager with Lazards in London, Hong Kong and 
Tokyo and then with BlackRock in building businesses, establishing 
offices and managing client relationships across Japan, Asia Pacific, 
UK, Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Philip Kay
Senior Independent Director*  
(since 24 May 2016)
Appointed 29 October 2004

A  M  N

Philip Kay is a Director of three Asian hedge funds, the Akamatsu Fund, 
the Akamatsu Bonsai Fund and the Counterpoint Asian Macro Fund. 
He is a fellow of Wolfson College, Oxford. He is a former Managing 
Director and Senior Advisor of Credit Suisse First Boston where he 
ran the global Japanese cash equity business and was a Director of 
Schroder Securities Limited and of Smith New Court PLC.

Sarah MacAulay
Director*†

Appointed 22 May 2018

A  M  N

Sarah MacAulay is a non-executive Director of Schroder Asian Total 
Return Investment Company plc, Aberdeen New Thai Investment Trust 
plc and JPMorgan Multi-Asset Trust plc. Previously she was a Director 
of Baring Asset Management (Asia) Limited in Hong Kong and Asian 
Investment Manager at Kleinwort Benson and Eagle Star in London. 
She has twenty years of Asian investment experience in London and 
Hong Kong, managing and marketing portfolios across numerous 
jurisdictions.

Sir Laurence Magnus
Chairman of the Audit Committee*†  
(since 12 May 2011)
Appointed 1 October 2010 

A  M  N

Sir Laurence Magnus is a Senior Advisor to Evercore Partners, a 
US listed corporate finance advisory business and Chairman of 
Historic England. He is Chairman of JP Morgan Multi-Asset Trust PLC, 
Chairman of Pantheon International plc, a Director of Aggregated 
Micropower Holdings plc and a Director or trustee of a number of 
private companies and charities. Previously he worked for Samuel 
Montagu & Co Limited (HSBC Investment Bank) in a corporate finance 
advisory capacity, including a number of years spent in Singapore with 
responsibilities in South East Asia. He was subsequently, in succession, 
a Director of Phoenix Securities, a Managing Director of Donaldson, 
Lufkin and Jenrette and a Managing Director of Credit Suisse First 
Boston before joining Lexicon Partners in 2001, initially as Deputy 
Chairman and subsequently as Chairman prior to its merger with 
Evercore in 2011.

Dominic Ziegler
Director*
Appointed 17 November 2014

A  M  N

Dominic Ziegler currently holds the post of Asia Columnist and Senior 
Asia Writer at The Economist in Hong Kong. He has over 25 years’ 
experience in top-flight journalism and commentary, with a special 
expertise in East Asian affairs, particularly Japan, having previously 
served as The Economist’s Tokyo Bureau Chief.

Committee membership key

A  Audit M  Management Engagement N  Nomination  Committee Chair

*  All Directors are non-executive Directors and all are independent. The Board has determined that Philip Kay is independent in 
judgement and character notwithstanding his tenure on the Board exceeding nine years.

†  Sarah MacAulay and Sir Laurence Magnus both currently serve as non-executive directors of JP Morgan Multi-Asset Trust plc.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the 
audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 
31 December 2018.

The Company was incorporated in England and Wales as a 
public limited company on 10 February 1994 under the registered 
number 2885584 and was launched as an investment trust on 
15 March 1994.

Management Company
FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited (“FISL”) is the Company’s 
appointed Alternative Investment Fund Manager (the 
“AIFM”/“Manager”). FISL, as the Manager, has delegated the 
portfolio management of assets and the role of the company 
secretary to FIL Investments International (the “Investment 
Manager”).

The Alternative Investment Fund Management and Secretarial 
Services Agreement (the “Management Agreement”) will 
continue unless and until terminated by either party giving to 
the other not less than six months’ notice in writing. However, 
it may be terminated without compensation if the Company is 
liquidated, pursuant to the procedures laid down in the Articles 
of Association of the Company. The Management Agreement 
may also be terminated forthwith as a result of a material 
breach of the Management Agreement or on the insolvency of 
the Manager or the Company. In addition, the Company may 
terminate the Management Agreement by sixty days’ notice if the 
Manager ceases to be a subsidiary of FIL Limited.

FIL Limited has no beneficial interest in the shares of the 
Company (2017: same).

The Board reviews the Management Agreement at least annually 
and details are included in the Corporate Governance Statement 
on pages 27 and 28.

Fee Arrangements for the six months to 30 June 2018
For the period from 1 January to 30 June 2018, investment 
management services were charged at an annual rate of 0.85% 
of the value of gross assets under management, including 
the exposure to the investments underlying the long CFDs, but 
excluding investment in any fund which is managed by the 
Manager. Fees were calculated and paid quarterly under this 
arrangement. 

Revised Fee Arrangement from 1 July 2018
Since 1 July 2018, the Company has a new variable management 
fee agreement which comprises a set base fee and a positive 
or negative variable element. The set base fee has reduced 
from 0.85% of gross assets to 0.70% of net assets per annum, 
with a +/- 0.20% variable fee based on performance of the 
net asset value per share relative to the Reference Index. The 
variable element of the fee was effective from 1 October 2018. 
The change from gross to net assets should result in a significant 
reduction in absolute fees based on the current level of gearing, 
with the performance fee capped, such that the maximum fee 
that the Company will pay is 0.90% of net assets. However, if the 
Company underperforms the Reference Index, the overall fee can 
fall as low as 0.50% of net assets. The variable management fee 
is accrued daily and paid monthly.

In addition, the Manager provides secretarial and administration 
services and fees which are seperately remunerated through 
quarterly fees. These amounted to £47,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2018 (2017: £47,000).

The Board
David Robins, Philip Kay, Sir Laurence Magnus and Dominic Ziegler 
all served on the Board throughout the year ended 31 December 
2018. Mami Mizutori resigned from the Board on 1 February 2018 
and David Graham and Sarah MacAulay were both appointed 
to the Board on 22 May 2018. A brief description of all serving 
Directors as at the date of this report is shown on page 22 and 
indicates their qualifications for Board membership.

Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance
In addition to benefits enjoyed under the Manager’s global 
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance arrangements, the 
Company maintains additional insurance cover for its Directors 
under its own policy as permitted by the Companies Act 2006.

Going Concern Statement
The Directors have considered the Company’s investment 
objective, risk management policies, liquidity risk, credit risk, 
capital management policies and procedures, the nature of its 
portfolio (being mainly securities which are readily realisable) 
and its expenditure and cash flow projections and have 
concluded that the Company has adequate resources to continue 
to adopt the going concern basis for at least twelve months from 
the date of this Annual Report. The prospects of the Company 
over a period longer than twelve months can be found in the 
Viability Statement on page 14.

Auditor’s Appointment
A resolution to reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditor to the 
Company will be proposed at the AGM on 21 May 2019.

Disclosure of Information to the Company’s Auditor
As required by Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, each 
Director in office as at the date of this report confirms that:

(a)  so far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Company’s Auditor is unaware; and 

(b)  each Director has taken all the steps that ought to have 
been taken as a Director to make himself/herself aware of 
any audit information, and to establish that the Company’s 
Auditor is aware of that information. 

Corporate Governance
The Corporate Governance Statement forms part of this report 
and can be found on pages 26 to 29.

Registrar, Custodian and Depositary Arrangements
The Company has appointed Link Asset Services as its Registrar 
to manage the Company’s share register, JPMorgan Chase Bank 
as its Custodian, which is primarily responsible for safeguarding 
the Company’s assets, and J.P. Morgan Europe Limited as its 
Depositary, which is primarily responsible for oversight of the 
custody of investment funds and the protection of investors’ 
interests. Fees paid to these service providers are disclosed in 
Note 5 on page 48.
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Share Capital
The Company’s share capital comprises ordinary shares of 
25 pence each which are fully listed on the London Stock 
Exchange. As at 31 December 2018, the share capital of the 
Company was 136,161,695 ordinary shares (2017: 136,161,695) 
of which 1,025,500 shares (2017: 555,000) are held in Treasury. 
Shares in Treasury do not have voting rights, therefore, the total 
number of ordinary shares with voting rights was 135,136,195 
(2017: 135,606,695).

Premium/Discount Management: Enhancing Shareholder Value
The Board recognises the importance of the relationship between 
the Company’s share price and the NAV per share and monitors 
this closely. It seeks authority from shareholders each year to 
issue shares at a premium or to repurchase shares at a discount 
to the NAV, either for cancellation or holding in Treasury. The 
Board will exercise these authorities if deemed to be in the best 
interests of shareholders at the time.

Share Issues
No ordinary shares were issued during the year to 31 December 
2018 (2017: nil) and none have been issued since the year end 
and as at the date of this report.

The authorities to issue shares and to disapply pre-emption rights 
expire at the AGM on 21 May 2019 and therefore resolutions to 
renew these authorities will be put to shareholders at this AGM.

Substantial Share Interests
As at 31 December 2018 and 28 February 2019, notification had 
been received that the shareholders listed in the table below, 
held more than 3% of the voting share capital of the Company.

Share Repurchases and Treasury Shares
During the reporting year, 470,500 ordinary shares were 
repurchased for holding in Treasury (2017: 375,000). Since the 
year end and as at the date of this report, a further 190,033 
ordinary shares have been repurchased into Treasury. No shares 
have been repurchased for cancellation.

The authority to repurchase ordinary shares expires at the AGM 
on 21 May 2019 and a resolution to renew the authority to 
purchase shares, either for cancellation or to buy into Treasury, 
will be put to shareholders at this AGM.

Additional Information required in the Directors’ Report
Information on proposed dividends, financial instruments and 
greenhouse emissions is set out in the Strategic Report on 
pages 11 to 15.

Directors’ Report continued

Shareholders

28 February 
2019

%

31 December 
2018

%

31 December 
2017

%

Lazard Asset Management 19.8 20.0 23.0

Wells Capital Management 15.5 15.5 18.2

1607 Capital Partners 10.4 10.8 12.8

Fidelity Platform Investors 7.3 7.8 7.8

Hargreaves Lansdown 5.5 5.3 –

Wesleyan Assurance 4.0 4.0 3.9

Charles Stanley 3.5 3.5 –

South Yorkshire Pension Authority – – 3.1

Shareholders

31 December
2018

% of voting 
share capital

31 December 
2017

% of voting 
 share capital

Retail Investors* 40.9 29.7

Mutual Funds 31.1 33.2

Pension Funds 21.3 27.0

Insurance Funds 6.4 6.5

Trading 0.3 0.7

Hedge Funds – 2.3

Charities – 0.6

Total 100.0 100.0
* Includes Fidelity Platform Investors (7.8%)
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING – 21 MAY 2019

THIS SECTION IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR 
IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.

If you are in any doubt as to the action you should take, you 
should seek your own personal financial advice from your 
stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other 
financial adviser authorised under the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000.

Fidelity Platform Investors
If you hold your shares in the Company through the Fidelity 
platform, you have the right to attend the Company’s AGM and 
vote on the proposed resolutions. For the forthcoming AGM and 
future AGMs, the voting process will take place online. Historically, 
you would have received a Form of Direction and an Attendance 
Card with instructions on how to vote in the post. Fidelity will no 
longer be providing paper forms of direction. All Fidelity Platform 
Investors will receive a letter setting out the voting process.

Paperless Proxy Voting
Link Asset Services, the Registrar, will also be providing an online 
process for voting on the resolutions to be proposed at the 
Company’s AGM. Details of how this will work are included in 
the Notes to the Notice of Meeting on pages 61 and 62. There is 
an option to contact the Registrar to receive a paper proxy form 
should this be preferred or required.

If you have sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of all your 
shares in the Company, you should pass this document, together 
with any other accompanying documents as soon as possible 
to the purchaser or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or 
other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected, for 
onward transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

At the AGM on 21 May 2019, resolutions will be proposed 
relating to the items of business set out in the Notice of Meeting 
on pages 60 and 61 including the items of special business 
summarised below.

Authority to Allot Shares
Resolution 11 is an ordinary resolution and provides the Directors 
with a general authority to allot securities in the Company 
up to an aggregate nominal value of £1,702,021. If passed, 
this resolution will enable the Directors to allot a maximum of 
6,808,084 ordinary shares which represents approximately 5% 
of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (including 
Treasury shares) as at 28 March 2019 and to impose any limits 
or restrictions and make any arrangements which they consider 
necessary or appropriate to deal with Treasury shares, fractional 
entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory or practical problems 
in, or under the laws of, any territory or any other matter. 
The Directors would not intend to use this power unless they 
considered that it was in the interests of shareholders to do so. 
Any shares issued would be at NAV per share or at a premium to 
NAV per share.

Authority to Disapply Pre-emption Rights
Resolution 12 is a special resolution disapplying pre-emption 
rights and granting authority to the Directors, without the need 
for further specific shareholder approval, to make allotments 
of equity securities or sale of Treasury shares for cash up to 
an aggregate nominal value of £1,702,021 (including Treasury 
shares) (approximately 5% of the issued share capital of the 
Company as at 28 March 2019 and equivalent to 6,808,084 
ordinary shares).

Authority to Repurchase Shares
Resolution 13 is a special resolution which renews the Company’s 
authority to purchase up to 14.99% (20,228,429) of the number 
of ordinary shares in issue (excluding Treasury Shares) on 
28 March 2019, either for immediate cancellation or for retention 
as Treasury shares, at the determination of the Directors. Once 
shares are held in Treasury, the Directors may only dispose of 
them in accordance with the relevant legislation by subsequently 
selling the shares for cash or by cancelling the shares. Purchases 
of ordinary shares will be made at the discretion of the Directors 
and within guidelines set from time-to-time by them in the light of 
prevailing market conditions. Purchases will only be made in the 
market at prices below the prevailing NAV per share.

Continuation Vote 
Resolution 14 is an ordinary resolution regarding the continuation 
of the Company as an investment trust for a further three years. 
The Directors expect this continuation vote to be passed.

Recommendation: The Board considers that each of 
the resolutions is likely to promote the success of the 
Company and is in the best interests of the Company and 
its shareholders as a whole. The Directors unanimously 
recommend that you vote in favour of the resolutions as they 
intend to do in respect of their own beneficial holdings.

By Order of the Board
FIL Investments International
Secretary
28 March 2019
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Corporate Governance Statement forms part of the Directors’ 
Report. The Company is committed to maintaining high standards 
of corporate governance. Accordingly, the Board has put in 
place a framework for corporate governance which it believes is 
appropriate for an investment company.

Corporate Governance Codes
The Board follows the principles of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code (“UK Code”) issued by the Financial Reporting Council (the 
“FRC”) in 2016 and the AIC’s Code of Corporate Governance 
(the “AIC Code”) issued by the Association of Investment 
Companies (“AIC”) in 2016. The FRC has confirmed that 
investment companies which report against the AIC Code and 
which follow the AIC Guide on Corporate Governance will meet 
their obligations under the UK Code and paragraph 9.8.6 of 
the Listing Rules. This Statement, together with the Statement of 
Directors’ Responsibilities on page 33, set out how the principles 
have been applied.

The AIC Code and the AIC Guide can be found on the AIC’s 
website at www.theaic.co.uk and the UK Code can be found on 
the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk.

The FRC and AIC have published new corporate governance 
codes which, in respect of this Company, will take effect for the 
year ending 31 December 2019.

Statement of Compliance
The Company has complied with the recommendations of the 
AIC Code and the relevant provisions of the UK Code for the 
year under review and up to the date of this report, except in 
relation to the UK Code provisions relating to the role of the chief 
executive; executive directors’ remuneration; and the need for an 
internal audit function. For the reasons set out in the AIC Guide, 
and as explained in the UK Code, the Board considers that these 
provisions are not relevant to the position of the Company, as 
it is an externally managed investment company and has no 
executive directors, employees or internal operations.

THE BOARD
Board Composition
The Board, chaired by David Robins, consists of six non-executive 
Directors. The Directors believe that, between them, they have 
good knowledge and wide experience of business in Japan, the 
Asia region and of investment trusts, and that the Board has an 
appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and 
knowledge of the Company and length of service to discharge 
its duties and provide effective strategic leadership and proper 
governance of the Company.

Philip Kay is the Senior Independent Director and fulfils the 
role of sounding board for the Chairman, intermediary for 
the other Directors as necessary and he acts as a channel of 
communication for shareholders in the event that contact through 
the Chairman is inappropriate. The Board has determined 
that Philip is independent in judgement and character 
notwithstanding his tenure on the Board exceeding nine years. 
In addition, his corporate and industry knowledge remains an 
invaluable asset which contributes to the collective skills of the 
Board.

Biographical details of all the Directors are on page 22.

Board Responsibilities and Board Meetings
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s affairs 
and for promoting the long term success of the Company. All 
matters which are not delegated to the Company’s Manager 
under the Management Agreement are reserved for the Board’s 
decision. Matters reserved for the Board and considered at 
meetings include decisions on strategy, management, structure, 
capital, share issues, share repurchases, gearing, financial 
reporting, risk management, investment performance, share price 
discount, corporate governance, Board appointments, and the 
appointments of the Manager and the Company Secretary. The 
Board also considers shareholder issues including communication 
and investor relations.

All Directors are independent of the Manager and considered to 
be free from any relationship which could materially interfere with 
the exercise of their independent judgement. The Board follows a 
procedure of notification of other interests that may arise as part 
of considering any potential conflicts and is satisfied that none 
have arisen in the year under review.

All Directors are able to allocate sufficient time to the Company 
to discharge their responsibilities fully and effectively. Each 
Director is entitled to take independent professional advice, at 
the Company’s expense, in the furtherance of their duties.

The Board considers that it meets sufficiently regularly to 
discharge its duties effectively and the table on page 27 
gives the attendance record for the meetings held during the 
reporting year. The Portfolio Manager and key representatives 
of the Manager are in attendance at these meetings. Between 
these meetings there is regular contact with the Manager and 
other meetings are arranged as necessary. Additionally, Board 
Committees and sub-groups meet to pursue matters referred to 
them by the Board and the Chairman is in contact with the other 
Directors regularly without representatives of the Manager being 
present.

In addition to the formal Board and Committee meetings, the 
Board undertakes a due diligence trip to Japan every twelve 
to eighteen months. On such trips, the Board meets with the 
management of existing and potential investee companies 
alongside the Portfolio Manager. Further details of the most 
recent trip which took place in January 2019 can be found in the 
Chairman’s Statement on page 3.

https://www.theaic.co.uk/
https://www.frc.org.uk/
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Regular
Board 

Meetings

Nomination
Committee

Meetings

Audit
Committee

Meetings

Management
Engagement

Committee
Meetings

David Robins 4/4 1/1 3/3 1/1

David Graham* 2/2 1/1 2/2 n/a

Philip Kay 4/4 1/1 3/3 1/1

Sarah MacAulay* 2/2 1/1 2/2 n/a

Sir Laurence Magnus 4/4 1/1 3/3 1/1

Dominic Ziegler 4/4 1/1 3/3 1/1

* Appointed on 22 May 2018.

Figures in the table above indicate those meetings for which each Director was eligible to attend and attended in the year. Regular 
Board Meetings exclude ad hoc meetings for formal approvals.

Company Secretary
The Board has access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretary. The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for 
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that applicable 
rules and regulations are complied with.

Changes to the Board
Changes to the Board take place in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006, the Company’s Articles of Association and 
the AIC Code. The Nomination Committee is responsible for 
identifying possible candidates, however, any proposal for a new 
Director is discussed and approved by the entire Board. External 
consultants who have no connection with the Company are 
used to identify potential candidates. Following Mami Mizutori’s 
resignation on 1 February 2018, the Board engaged Fletcher 
Jones Ltd to assist in the recruitment of David Graham and 
Sarah MacAulay.

Director Training
Upon appointment, each Director is provided with all relevant 
information regarding the Company and receives an induction 
in the investment operation and administration functions of 
the Company, together with a summary of their duties and 
responsibilities to the Company. Directors also receive regular 
briefings from, amongst others, the AIC, the Company’s 
Auditor and the Company Secretary, regarding any proposed 
developments or changes in law or regulations that could affect 
the Company and/or the Directors.

Election and Re-election of Directors
All newly appointed Directors stand for election by the 
shareholders at the AGM following their appointment by the 
Board. All other Directors are subject to annual re-election by 
the shareholders. Directors standing for election and re-election 
at this year’s AGM are listed, together with their biographical 
details, on page 22. The terms and letters of appointment of 
Directors are available for inspection at the registered office of 
the Company and will be available prior to the AGM.

Board Evaluation
An annual evaluation of the Board, its Directors and its 
Committees is undertaken. It takes the form of written 
questionnaires and discussions. The performance of the 
Chairman is evaluated by the other Directors. The results of 
these evaluations are discussed by the Board and the process 
is considered to be constructive in terms of identifying areas 
for improving the functioning and performance of the Board 
and action is taken on the basis of the results. The Board 
considers tenure of individual Directors as one of the matters 
in the evaluation process. A Director may serve for more than 
nine years provided that Director is considered by the Board to 
continue to be independent.

Directors’ Remuneration and Share Interests
Details of Directors’ remuneration and share interests are 
disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 31 
and 32.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board discharges certain of its corporate governance 
responsibilities through three Committees as set out below and 
on page 28. These are the Audit Committee, the Management 
Engagement Committee and the Nomination Committee. 
Written terms of reference of each Committee can be found 
on the Company’s pages of the Manager’s website at 
www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Sir Laurence Magnus and 
consists of all of the Directors. Full details are disclosed in the 
Report of the Audit Committee on pages 34 to 36.

The Management Engagement Committee
The Management Engagement Committee is chaired by David 
Robins and consists of all of the Directors. It meets at least once 
a year and reports to the Board, making recommendations 
where appropriate. It is charged with reviewing and monitoring 

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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the performance of the Manager and for ensuring that the terms 
of the Company’s Management Agreement remains competitive 
and reasonable for shareholders.

Ahead of the AGM, the Committee has reviewed the 
performance of the Manager and the fee basis and also that 
of its peers. Having considered the Company’s performance 
record and the commitment, quality and continuity of the team 
responsible for the Company, the Committee concluded that it 
was in the interests of shareholders that the appointment of the 
Manager should continue.

The Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is chaired by David Robins and 
consists of all of the Directors. It meets at least once a year 
and reviews the composition, size and structure of the Board 
and makes recommendations to the Board as appropriate. It is 
charged with nominating new Directors for consideration by the 
Board, and in turn for approval by shareholders. The Committee 
carries out its candidate search against a set of objective 
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, 
including gender. New Directors are appointed on the basis 
of merit. External consultants may be used to identify potential 
candidates, as was the case for the recruitment of David Graham 
and Sarah MacAulay.

The Committee also considers the election and re-election of 
Directors ahead of each AGM. For the forthcoming AGM, it has 
considered the performance and contribution to the Company 
of each Director and concluded that each Director has been 
effective and continues to demonstrate commitment to their 
roles. Accordingly, the Committee has recommended their 
continued service and this has been endorsed by the Board, 
which recommends their appointment and reappointment by 
shareholders at the AGM on 21 May 2019.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting
Set out on page 33 is a statement by the Directors of their 
responsibilities in respect of the preparation of the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements. The Auditor has set out its reporting 
responsibilities within the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 
37 to 41.

The Board has a responsibility to present a fair, balanced and 
understandable assessment of annual, half-yearly, other price 
sensitive public reports and reports to regulators, and provides 
information required to be presented by statutory requirements. 
All such reports are reviewed by the Audit Committee and 
approved by the Board prior to their issue to ensure that this 
responsibility is fulfilled.

Risk Management and Internal Controls
The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of risk 
management and of internal controls and for reviewing their 
effectiveness. The review takes place at least once a year. Such 
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The Board determines the nature and extent of any risks it is 
willing to take in order to achieve its strategic objectives. It is 
responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance 
of controls and procedures to safeguard the assets of the 
Company although these tasks have been delegated on a day-
to-day basis to the Manager. The system extends to operational 
and compliance controls and risk management. Clear lines of 
accountability have been established between the Board and 
the Manager. The Manager provides regular reports on controls 
and compliance issues to the Audit Committee and the Board. 
In carrying out its review, the Audit Committee has regard to the 
activities of the Manager, the Manager’s compliance and risk 
functions and the work carried out by the Independent Auditor 
and also includes consideration of internal controls and similar 
reports issued by the other service providers.

The Board, assisted by the Manager, has undertaken a rigorous 
risk and controls assessment. It confirms that there is an effective 
ongoing process in place to identify, evaluate and manage the 
Company’s principal business and operational risks, and that it 
has been in place throughout the year ended 31 December 2018 
and up to the date of this report. This process is in accordance 
with the FRC’s “Risk Management, Internal Control and Related 
Financial Business Reporting” guidance.

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit 
function and has determined that the systems and procedures 
employed by the Manager, which are subject to inspection by 
the Manager’s internal and external audit processes, provide 
sufficient assurance that a sound system of internal controls 
is maintained to safeguard shareholders’ investments and 
the Company’s assets. An internal audit function, specific to 
the Company, is therefore considered unnecessary. The Audit 
Committee meets the Manager’s internal audit representative 
at least once a year. It receives a summary of the Manager’s 
externally audited internal controls report on an annual basis.

Whistle-Blowing Procedure
Part of the Manager’s role in ensuring the provision of a good 
service pursuant to the Management Agreement, includes 
the ability for employees of Fidelity to raise concerns through 
a workplace concerns escalation policy (“whistle-blowing 
procedure”). Fidelity has advised the Board that it is committed 
to providing the highest level of service to its customers and to 
applying the highest standards of quality, honesty, integrity and 
probity. The aim of the policy is to encourage employees and 
others working for Fidelity to assist in tackling fraud, corruption 
and other malpractice within the organisation and in setting 
standards of ethical conduct. This policy has been endorsed 
accordingly by the Board.

Responsibility as an Institutional Shareholder
The Board has adopted the Manager’s Principles of Ownership 
in relation to investments. These principles include the pursuit 
of an active investment policy through portfolio management 
decisions, voting on resolutions at general meetings and 
maintaining a continuing dialogue with the management of 
investee companies. Fidelity is a signatory to the UK Stewardship 
Code setting out the responsibilities of institutional shareholders 
and agents. Further details of the Manager’s Principles of 
Ownership and voting may be found at www.fidelity.co.uk.

Corporate Governance Statement continued

https://www.fidelity.co.uk
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Relations with Shareholders
Communication with shareholders is given a high priority by 
the Board and it liaises with the Manager and the Company’s 
broker who are in regular contact with the Company’s major 
institutional investors to canvass shareholder opinion and to 
communicate its views to shareholders. All Directors are made 
aware of shareholders’ concerns and the Chairman, the Senior 
Independent Director and, where appropriate, other Directors, 
are available to meet with shareholders to discuss strategy and 
governance. In addition, the Portfolio Manager has also met with 
major shareholders and investors in the UK and Tokyo. The Board 
regularly monitors the shareholder profile of the Company and 
receives regular reports from the Manager on meetings attended 
with shareholders and any concerns raised in such meetings. The 
Board aims to provide the maximum opportunity for dialogue 
between the Company and its shareholders. If any shareholder 
wishes to contact a member of the Board directly, they should 
either email the Company Secretary at investmenttrusts@fil.com 
or write to the address provided on page 65. The Company 
Secretary will attend to any enquiries promptly and ensure that 
they are directed as appropriate to the Chairman, the Senior 
Independent Director or the Board as a whole.

The Board encourages all shareholders to attend the AGM on 
21 May 2019 at which there will be the opportunity to meet 
and address questions to the Chairman and other members 
of the Board, the Portfolio Manager and representatives of the 
Manager.

The Notice of Meeting on pages 60 to 62 sets out the business 
of the AGM and the special business resolutions are explained 
more fully on page 25 of the Directors’ Report. A separate 
resolution is proposed on each substantially separate issue 
including the Annual Report and Financial Statements. The Notice 
of Meeting and related papers are sent to shareholders at least 
20 working days before the AGM.

Voting rights in the Company’s shares
Every person entitled to vote on a show of hands has one vote. 
On a poll, every shareholder who is present in person or by 
proxy or representative has one vote for every ordinary share 
held. At general meetings, all proxy votes are counted and, 
except where a poll is called, proxy voting is reported for each 
resolution after it has been dealt with on a show of hands. The 
proxy voting results are disclosed on the Company’s pages of the 
Manager’s website at www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com.

Articles of Association
Any changes to the Company’s Articles of Association must be 
made by special resolution.

On behalf of the Board

David Robins
Chairman
28 March 2019

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Chairman’s Statement
The Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 
31 December 2018 has been prepared in accordance with 
the Large & Medium sized Companies & Groups (Accounts & 
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the “Regulations”). 
As the Board is comprised entirely of non-executive Directors 
and has no chief executive and employees, many parts of the 
Regulations, in particular those relating to chief executive officer 
pay and employee pay, do not apply and are therefore, not 
disclosed in this report.

An ordinary resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report (excluding the Remuneration Policy) will be put to 
shareholders at the AGM on 21 May 2019. The Company’s 
Auditor is required to audit certain sections of this report and 
where such disclosures have been audited, the specific section 
has been indicated as such. The Auditor’s opinion is included in 
its report on pages 37 to 41.

Directors’ Remuneration
The annual fee structure with effect from 1 January 2018 is: 
Chairman: £35,000; Chairman of the Audit Committee: £26,500; 
and Directors: £24,000. This was the first fee increase since 
March 2012. Directors’ remuneration is reviewed on an annual 
basis to ensure that it remains competitive and sufficient to 
attract and retain the quality of Directors needed to manage the 
Company successfully.

The Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy is subject to a binding vote, in the form 
of an ordinary resolution at every third Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”). A binding vote means that if it is not successful the 
Board will be obliged to revise the policy and seek further 
shareholder approval at a General Meeting specially convened 
for that purpose. The current policy, which was approved at the 
AGM in June 2017, is set out below.

The Company’s Articles of Association limit the aggregate fees 
payable to each Director to £50,000 per annum. Subject to this 
overall limit, it is the Board’s policy to determine the level of 
Directors’ fees having regard to the time spent by them on the 
Company’s affairs; the level of fees payable to non-executive 
directors in the industry generally; the requirement to attract 
and retain individuals with suitable knowledge and experience; 
and the role that individual Directors fulfil. Other than fees and 
reasonable travel expenses incurred in attending to the affairs of 
the Company, the Directors are not eligible for any performance 
related pay or benefits, pension related benefits, share options, 
long term incentive schemes, or other taxable benefits. The 
Directors are not entitled to exit payments and are not provided 
with any compensation for loss of office.

The level of Directors’ fees is determined by the whole Board. 
Directors do not vote on their own fees. The Board reviews the 
Company’s Remuneration Policy and implementation on an 
annual basis. Reviews are based on information provided by 
the Company’s Manager and research from third parties and it 
includes information on the fees of other similar investment trusts.

No Director has a service contract with the Company. New 
Directors are provided with a letter of appointment which, 
amongst other things, provides that their appointment is subject 
to the Companies Act 2006 and the Company’s Articles of 
Association. Copies of the Directors’ letters of appointment are 
available at each of the Company’s AGMs and can be obtained 
from the Company’s registered office.

In common with most investment trusts there is no Chief Executive 
Officer and there are no employees.

The Company’s remuneration policy will apply to new Board 
members, who will be paid the equivalent amount of fees as 
current Board members.

Voting on the Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”), as set out above, was 
approved at the AGM on 6 June 2017 with 99.82% of votes 
cast in favour, 0.13% of votes cast against and 0.05% of votes 
withheld. The next vote will be put to shareholders at the AGM in 
2020. The Policy has been followed throughout the year ended 
31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report.

Voting on the Directors’ Remuneration Report
At the AGM held on 22 May 2018, 99.64% of votes were cast in 
favour of the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 
31 December 2017, 0.23% of votes were cast against and 0.13% 
of votes were withheld.

The Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 
31 December 2018 will be put to shareholders at the AGM 
on 21 May 2019, and the votes cast will be disclosed 
on the Company’s pages of the Manager’s website at 
www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com.

Single Total Figure of Directors’ Remuneration
The single total aggregate Directors’ remuneration for the year 
under review was £140,643 (2017: £113,289). For the prior year, 
this includes expenses incurred by Directors in attending to the 
affairs of the Company and which are considered by HMRC to 
be a taxable benefit. Information on individual Directors’ fees 
and taxable benefits (Directors’ expenses) are disclosed in the 
table on the next page.

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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2019 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017

Projected
fees

Fees
(Audited)

Taxable
Benefits

(Audited)
Total

(Audited)
Fees

(Audited)

Taxable
Benefits
(Audited)

Total
(Audited)

(£) (£) (£) (£) (£) (£) (£)

Remuneration of Directors

David Robins 35,000 35,000 – 35,000 30,000 – 30,000

David Graham1 24,000 14,738 – 14,738 n/a n/a n/a

Philip Kay 24,000 24,000 – 24,000 20,000 – 20,000

Sarah MacAulay1 24,000 14,738 – 14,738 n/a n/a n/a

Sir Laurence Magnus 26,500 26,500 – 26,500 23,000 – 23,000

Mami Mizutori2 n/a 1,667 – 1,667 20,000 289 20,289

Dominic Ziegler 24,000 24,000 – 24,000 20,000 – 20,000

Total 157,500 140,643 – 140,643 113,000 289 113,289

1 Appointed on 22 May 2018.
2 Retired on 1 February 2018. The revised fee structure did not apply to Ms Mizutori.

Expenditure on Directors Remuneration and Distributions to 
Shareholders
As the Company has no employees, the Directors do not consider 
that it is relevant to present a table comparing remuneration paid 
to employees with distributions to shareholders. The total fees 
paid to Directors is shown in the table above.

Performance
The Company‘s objective is to achieve long term capital growth 
by investing predominantly in equities and related securities of 
Japanese companies. The graph below shows the performance 
of the Company’s NAV, share price and the Reference Index 
(in sterling terms) over ten years to 31 December 2018.

Total return performance for the ten years to 31 December 2018

+204.2%

+159.0%

+96.0%

Ordinary share price Reference Index (in sterling terms)*NAV per ordinary share  

50
75

100
125
150
175
200

225
250
275
300

325
350
375
400

Dec 08 Dec 09 Dec 10 Dec 11 Dec 12 Dec 13 Dec 14 Dec 15 Dec 16 Dec 18Dec 17

Rebased to 100.
Sources: Fidelity and Datastream.
Past performance is not a guide to future returns.

* The Company’s Reference Index changed from the Russell Nomura Mid/Small Cap Index (in sterling terms) to the TOPIX Index 
 (in sterling terms) on 22 May 2018. Therefore, the Reference Index reported for 2018 is a blend of the two for the relevant reporting periods.
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Directors’ Interest in the Company’s Shares
Although there is no requirement for the Directors to hold shares in the Company, shareholdings by Directors are encouraged. The 
interests of the Directors’ in the ordinary shares of the Company are shown below. All of the shareholdings are beneficial.

Directors’ Shareholdings (Audited)

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

Change 
during year

David Robins 37,000 37,000 –

David Graham1 18,000 n/a 18,000

Philip Kay 12,094 12,094 –

Sarah MacAulay2 27,600 n/a 27,600

Sir Laurence Magnus 48,000 48,000 –

Mami Mizutori3 n/a 11,063 n/a

Dominic Ziegler nil nil –

1 Appointed on 22 May 2018. Purchase of shares by self.
2 Appointed on 22 May 2018. Purchase of shares by self and connected person.
3 Retired on 1 February 2018.

Dominic Ziegler has purchased 2,000 ordinary shares in the Company since the end of the reporting year. All other shareholdings 
remain unchanged as at the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board

David Robins
Chairman
28 March 2019

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial period. Under that law they have 
elected to prepare the Financial Statements in accordance with 
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 102: 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland. The Financial Statements are required by law 
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company 
and of the profit or loss for the reporting period.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors are 
required to:

•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently; 

•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; 

•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the Financial Statements; and 

•  prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that adequate 
accounting records are kept which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and 
to enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements comply 
with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations the Directors are also 
responsible for preparing a Strategic Report, a Directors’ 
Report, a Corporate Governance Statement and a Directors’ 
Remuneration Report that comply with that law and those 
regulations.

The Directors have delegated to the Manager the responsibility 
for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Company’s pages of the Manager’s 
website at www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com. Visitors to the 
website need to be aware that legislation in the UK governing 
the preparation and dissemination of the Financial Statements 
may differ from legislation in their own jurisdictions.

The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

•  The Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with 
FRS 102, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and loss of the Company; and 

•  The Annual Report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position of the 
Company, together with a description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties it faces. 

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provide the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business 
model and strategy.

Approved by the Board on 28 March 2019 and signed on its 
behalf by:

David Robins
Chairman

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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Report of the Audit Committee

I am pleased to present the formal report of the Audit Committee 
(the “Committee”) to shareholders.

The primary responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure 
the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting, the 
appropriateness of the risk management and internal controls 
processes and the effectiveness of the independent audit 
process and how this has been assessed for the year ended 
31 December 2018.

Composition
The members of the Committee are myself as Chairman and 
all of the other Directors. David Robins is a member of the 
Committee because the Board believes it is appropriate for all 
Directors to have such responsibility. All Committee members 
are independent non-executive Directors and collectively have 
sufficient recent and relevant financial experience to discharge 
their responsibilities fully.

The Committee’s performance is evaluated annually as part of 
the overall Board evaluation process. 

Role and Responsibilities
The Committee’s authority and duties are clearly defined in its 
terms of reference and are available on the Company’s pages 
of the Manager’s website at www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com. 
These duties include:

•  Establishing with the Auditor the nature and scope of the 
audit, reviewing the Auditor’s quality control procedures and 
reporting, assessing the effectiveness of the audit process 

and judging the Auditor’s independence and objectivity with 
particular regard to the provision of non-audit services;

•  Responsibility for making recommendations on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the Auditor; 

•  Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s risk 
management and internal controls systems (including 
financial, operational and compliance controls), considering 
the scope of the work undertaken by the Manager’s internal 
audit department*, and reviewing the Company’s procedures 
for detecting fraud; 

•  Monitoring the integrity of the Company’s half-yearly and 
annual financial statements to ensure that they are fair, 
balanced and understandable; 

•  Reviewing the existence and performance of all controls 
operating in the Company, including the reviews of internal 
controls reporting provided in relation to its service 
providers; and 

•  Reviewing the relationship with and the performance of third 
party service providers (such as the Registrar, Custodian and 
Depositary). 

*  The Committee, on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the work 
undertaken by the Manager’s internal audit team and has 
sufficient reassurance that a sound system of internal controls is 
maintained to safeguard the Company’s assets.

Meetings and Business Considered
Since the date of the last Annual Report (29 March 2018), the Committee has met three times and the Auditor has attended two of 
these meetings.

The following matters were dealt with and reviewed at each Committee meeting:

•  The Company’s risk management and internal controls framework; 

•  The Company’s compliance with its investment policy limits; 

• The methodology for reaching a fair value of unlisted investments; 

•  The Depositary’s oversight report; 

•  The Company’s revenue and expenses forecasts and its Balance Sheet; and 

•  The Committee’s Terms of Reference. 

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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In addition, the following matters were also considered at these meetings:

July 2018 •  The Half-Yearly Report and Financial Statements and recommendation of its approval to 
the Board

• The Going Concern Statement

October 2018 •  The Auditor’s engagement letter and audit plan for the Company’s year ending 
31 December 2018

• Work performed by the Manager’s Internal Audit team

March 2019 •  The Auditor’s findings from the audit of the Company

•  The Auditor’s performance, independence and confirmation of reappointment

• Compliance with Corporate Governance and regulatory requirements

•  The Annual Report and Financial Statements and recommendation of its approval to the 
Board

•  Review of the AAF Report (“Assurance reports on internal controls of service organisations 
made available for third parties”) prepared by PwC

•  The Viability and Going Concern Statements

Annual Report and Financial Statements
The Annual Report and Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Board and the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities is on 
page 33. The Committee advises the Board on the form and content of the Annual Report and Financial Statements, any issues which 
may arise in relation to these and any specific areas which require judgement. The Committee members apply their expertise and 
knowledge in reviewing disclosures made in order to ensure that the Financial Statements are fair, balanced and understandable.

Significant issues considered by the Audit Committee 
Summarised below are the most significant issues considered by the Committee in respect of these Financial Statements, and how 
these issues were addressed.

Recognition of 
Investment Income

Investment income is recognised in accordance with accounting policy Note 2(e) on page 45. 
The Manager provided detailed revenue forecasts which the Committee reviewed and 
confirmed that there were no significant variances to these forecasts. The Committee reviewed 
the internal audit and compliance monitoring reports received from the Manager, as well as an 
additional AAF report prepared by PwC to satisfy itself that adequate systems were in place for 
properly recording the Company’s investment income. Investment income was also tested and 
reported on by the Auditor.

Valuation, existence 
and ownership 
of investments 
(including 
derivatives)

The valuation of investments (including derivatives) is in accordance with accounting policy 
Notes 2(j) and 2(k) on page 46. The Committee took comfort from the Depositary’s regular 
oversight reports that investment related activities were conducted in accordance with 
the Company’s investment policy. The Committee received reports from the Manager, the 
Depository, and PwC that the valuation, existence and ownership of investments had been 
verified. In addition, the Committee received confirmation from the Auditor that it had tested the 
valuation of the Company’s investments and derivatives by reference to independent sources 
and had also confirmed the existence and ownership of investments with the Company’s 
Custodian and that of the derivatives with the Company’s counterparties.
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Independence and Effectiveness of the Audit Process
Ernst & Young LLP acted as the Company’s Independent Auditor 
for the year ended 31 December 2018. Fees paid to the Auditor 
for the audit of the Company’s Financial Statements are disclosed 
in Note 5 on page 48.

With regard to its assessment of the independence of the Auditor, 
the Committee took account of:

•  The audit plan for the year, including the audit team and 
approach to significant risks; 

•  The Auditor’s arrangements for managing any conflicts of 
interest; 

•  The fact that no non-audit services were provided to the 
Company during the reporting year and as at the date of 
this report; and

•  The statement by the Auditor that it remains independent 
within the meaning of the regulations and its professional 
standards. 

With regard to the effectiveness of the audit process, the 
Committee reviewed:

•  The fulfilment by the Auditor of the agreed audit plan; 

•  The audit findings report issued by the Auditor on the audit 
of the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2018; and 

•  Feedback from the Manager on the audit of the Company. 

The Committee concluded that the Auditor continues to remain 
independent and the audit process remains effective.

Auditor’s Appointment and Audit Tenure
Ernst & Young LLP was appointed as the Company’s Auditor on 
24 May 2016 following a formal audit tender process in 2015. 
The Committee has reviewed the Auditor’s independence and 
the effectiveness of the audit process prior to recommending its 
reappointment for a further year. The Auditor is required to rotate 
audit partners every five years and this is the third year that the 
audit partner, Matthew Price, has been in place. The Committee 
will continue to review the Auditor’s appointment each year to 
ensure that the Company continues to receive an optimal level 
of service. There are no contractual obligations that restrict the 
Company’s choice of auditor.

Sir Laurence Magnus
Chairman of the Audit Committee
28 March 2019

Report of the Audit Committee continued
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Fidelity Japan Trust PLC

Opinion
We have audited the Financial Statements of Fidelity Japan Trust 
PLC for the year ended 31 December 2018 which comprise the 
Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Balance 
Sheet and the related Notes 1 to 19, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards including FRS 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).

In our opinion, the Financial Statements:

•  give a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs as at 
31 December 2018 and of its loss for the year then ended;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report below. We are independent of 
the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the Financial Statements in the UK, 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to principal risks, going concern and 
viability statement
We have nothing to report in respect of the following information 
in the Annual Report, in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require 
us to report to you whether we have anything material to add or 
draw attention to:

•  the disclosures in the Annual Report set out on pages 12 to 
14 that describe the principal risks and explain how they are 
being managed or mitigated;

•  the Directors’ confirmation set out on page 12 in the Annual 
Report that they have carried out a robust assessment of the 
principal risks facing the entity, including those that would 
threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or 
liquidity;

•  the Directors’ statement set out on page 23 in the Financial 
Statements about whether they considered it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
them, and their identification of any material uncertainties 
to the entity’s ability to continue to do so over a period of 
at least twelve months from the date of approval of the 
Financial Statements;

•  whether the Directors’ statement in relation to going concern 
required under the Listing Rules in accordance with Listing 
Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially inconsistent with our knowledge 
obtained in the audit; or 

•  the Directors’ explanation set out on page 14 in the Annual 
Report as to how they have assessed the prospects of 
the entity, over what period they have done so and why 
they consider that period to be appropriate, and their 
statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation 
that the entity will be able to continue in operation and 
meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of their 
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing 
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Overview of our audit approach

Key audit matters •  Incomplete or inaccurate revenue recognition, including classification of special dividends 
as revenue or capital items in the income statement. 

• Incorrect valuation and defective title to the investment portfolio and derivatives.

Materiality •  Overall materiality of £1.88m which represents 1% of the net assets value of the Company.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the Financial 
Statements of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had 
the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation 
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 

engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and in our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.



Job No: 36716 Proof Event:37 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Fidelity Project Title: FJT Annual Report T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

38
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC | Annual Report 2018

Risk Our response to the risk Key observations 
communicated to the 
Audit Committee 

Incomplete or inaccurate 
revenue recognition, including 
classification of special dividends 
as revenue or capital items in the 
income statement
Refer to the Report of the Audit Committee 
(page 35); Accounting policies (page 45); and 
Note 3 of the Financial Statements (page 47)

The Company has reported revenue of £2.79m 
(2017: £2.57m).

The investment income receivable by the 
Company during the year directly affects 
the Company’s ability to pay a dividend to 
shareholders. There is a risk that income 
is recognised incorrectly through failure to 
recognise proper income entitlements or 
applying appropriate accounting treatment.

We identified the allocation of special dividends 
between revenue and capital to be a fraud risk 
due to the level of judgement involved in this 
allocation.

Special dividends can be included within either 
the capital or revenue columns of the Income 
Statement, depending on the commercial 
circumstances behind the payments. 

During the year the Company has not received 
special dividends (2017: £nil).

We performed the following procedures:

•  Walked through the revenue recognition 
process and obtained an understanding 
of the design and implementation of the 
controls;

•  Agreed a sample of dividends to the 
corresponding announcement made by 
the investee company and agreed cash 
received to bank statements;

•  Agreed, for a sample of investee 
companies, the dividend announcements 
made by the investee company from an 
external third party source to the income 
entitlements recorded by the Company;

•  Performed a review of the income and 
capital reports to identify special dividends, 
above our testing threshold, that have been 
received and accrued during the period;

•  Agreed all accrued dividends to an 
independent source and to post year end 
bank statement to assess the recoverability 
of these amounts; and

•  For a dividend sample selected, we 
compared the exchange rate used to 
translate the dividend income received in 
foreign currency to an independent source.

We have no matters 
to report to the 
Audit Committee 
with respect to our 
procedures performed 
over incomplete or 
inaccurate revenue 
recognition. We have 
confirmed there were 
no special dividends 
received by the 
Company during the 
year.

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Fidelity Japan Trust PLC continued
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Risk Our response to the risk Key observations 
communicated to the 
Audit Committee 

Incorrect valuation and defective 
title to the investment portfolio 
and derivatives
Refer to the Report of the Audit Committee 
(page 35); Accounting policies (page 46); and 
Notes 9 and 10 of the Financial Statements 
(pages 50 and 51)

The valuation of investments and derivatives as 
at the year-end was £179.73m (2017: £222.46m) 
comprising £185.99m (2017: £221.79m) of listed 
investments and £(6.26)m of net derivatives 
(2017: £0.67m).

The valuation of the assets held in the 
investment portfolio is the key driver of the 
Company’s net asset value and total return.

The incorrect valuation of the investment 
portfolio, including incorrect application of 
exchange rates, could have a significant impact 
on the Financial Statements. 

In addition, there is a risk of defective title of the 
entire investment portfolio.

The fair value of investments and derivatives 
is determined by reference to stock exchange 
quoted market bid prices at the close of 
business on the year-end date.

We performed the following procedures:

•  Walked through the investment valuation 
process;

•  Independently valued 100% of the 
investments and derivatives prices in the 
portfolio using independent pricing sources;

•  For those investments priced in currencies 
other than sterling we compared the 
exchange rates to an independent source; 
and 

•  Agreed 100% of the holdings in the 
investment portfolio and derivatives to 
third party confirmations received from the 
Custodian or Brokers and the Depositary.

We have no matters 
to report to the 
Audit Committee 
with respect to 
our procedures 
performed over 
incorrect valuation and 
defective title to the 
investment portfolio 
and derivatives.

Key audit matters remain unchanged from the prior year.

AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT

Tailoring the scope
Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and 
our allocation of performance materiality determine our audit 
scope for the Company. This enables us to form an opinion on 
the Financial Statements. We take into account size, risk profile, 
the organisation of the Company and effectiveness of controls, 
including controls and changes in the business environment when 
assessing the level of work to be performed. 

Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing 
the audit, in evaluating the effect of identified misstatements on 
the audit and in forming our audit opinion. 

Materiality
The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually 
or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of the users of the Financial Statements. 
Materiality provides a basis for determining the nature and extent 
of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Company to be £1.88m (2017: 
£2.20m), which is 1% (2017: 1%) of the net asset value of the 
Company. We have used the net asset value of the Company as 
the basis for setting materiality as it provides the most important 
financial metric on which shareholders judge the performance of 
the Company and it is a generally accepted auditing practice for 
investment trust audits.

Performance materiality
The application of materiality at the individual account or 
balance level is set at an amount to reduce to an appropriately 
low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and 
undetected misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our 
assessment of the Company’s overall control environment, our 
judgement was that performance materiality was 75% (2017: 
75%) of our planning materiality, namely £1.41m (2017: £1.70m). 
We have set performance materiality at this percentage due 
to past experience of the audit that indicates a lower risk of 
misstatements, both corrected and uncorrected.
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Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered 
as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to 
them all uncorrected audit differences in excess of £0.09m (2017: 
£0.11m), which is set at 5% (2017: 5%) of planning materiality, 
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, 
warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. 

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the 
quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in light 
of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report set out on page 24, other than the Financial 
Statements and our Auditor’s report thereon. The Directors are 
responsible for the other information. 

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If 
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the Financial Statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

In this context, we also have nothing to report in regard to 
our responsibility to specifically address the following items in 
the other information and to report as uncorrected material 
misstatements of the other information where we conclude that 
those items meet the following conditions:

•  Fair, balanced and understandable as set out on 
page 33 – the statement given by the Directors that they 
consider the Annual Report and Financial Statements 
taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Company’s performance, business model 
and strategy, is materially inconsistent with our knowledge 
obtained in the audit; or

•  Audit Committee reporting set out on page 34 – the 
section describing the work of the Audit Committee does 
not appropriately address matters communicated by us to 
the Audit Committee, the explanation as to why the Annual 
Report does not include a section describing the work 
of the Audit Committee is materially inconsistent with our 
knowledge obtained in the audit; or

•  Directors’ statement of compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code set out on page 26 – the 
parts of the Directors’ statement required under the Listing 
Rules relating to the Company’s compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code containing provisions specified 
for review by the Auditor in accordance with Listing Rule 
9.8.10R(2) do not properly disclose a departure from a 
relevant provision of the UK Corporate Governance Code.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 
2006
In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to 
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the 
audit:

•  the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Financial 
Statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial 
Statements; and 

•  the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company 
and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have 
not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or 
Directors’ Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in 
relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion:

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or

•  the Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement 
with the accounting records and returns; or

•  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by 
law are not made; or

•  we have not received all the information and explanations 
we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 33, the Directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Fidelity Japan Trust PLC continued
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Ygoing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an Auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these Financial Statements. 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered 
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
The objectives of our audit, in respect to fraud, are to identify 
and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial 
Statements due to fraud; to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the assessed risks of material misstatement 
due to fraud, through designing and implementing appropriate 
responses; and to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected 
fraud identified during the audit. However, the primary 
responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests 
with both those charged with governance of the entity and 
management. 

Our approach was as follows:

•  We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory 
frameworks that are applicable to the Company and 
determined that the most significant are the Companies Act 
2006, the Listing Rules, the UK Corporate Governance Code 
and Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010.

•  We understood how Fidelity Japan Trust PLC is complying 
with those frameworks through discussions with the Audit 
Committee and Company Secretary and reviewed the 
Company’s documented policies and procedures.

•  We assessed the susceptibility of the Company’s Financial 
Statements to material misstatement, including how 
fraud might occur by considering the key risks impacting 
the Financial Statements. We identified a fraud risk with 
respect to the incomplete or inaccurate income recognition 
through incorrect classification of special dividends. Further 
discussion of our approach is set out in the section on key 
audit matters above.

•  Based on this understanding we designed our audit 
procedures to identify non-compliance with such laws 
and regulations. Our procedures involved review of the 
reporting to the Directors with respect to the application of 
the documented policies and procedures and review of the 
Financial Statements to ensure compliance with the reporting 
requirements of the Company.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit 
of the Financial Statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at https://www.frc.org.
uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
Auditor’s report.

Other matters we are required to address 
We were appointed by the Company on 24 May 2016 to audit 
the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 
and subsequent financial periods.

The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous 
renewals and reappointments is 3 years, covering the years 
ending 31 December 2016 to 31 December 2018.

•  The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard were not provided to the Company and we remain 
independent of the Company in conducting the audit.

•  The audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to 
the Audit Committee.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an Auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and 
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Matthew Price 
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor
London
28 March 2019

Notes:
1.  The Directors have delegated to Fidelity the responsibility 

for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. 
The work carried out by the Auditor does not involve 
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the Auditor 
accepts no responsibility for any changes that may have 
occurred to the Financial Statements since they were initially 
presented on the website.

2.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation 
and dissemination of Financial Statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor%E2%80%99s-responsibilities-for
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditors/audit-assurance/auditor-s-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-fi/description-of-the-auditor%E2%80%99s-responsibilities-for
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Income Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2018

The Notes on pages 45 to 58 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

Year ended 31 December 2018 Year ended 31 December 2017

Notes
revenue

£’000
capital

£’000
total
£’000

revenue
£’000

capital
£’000

total
£’000

(Losses)/gains on investments 9 – (27,452) (27,452) – 44,049 44,049

(Losses)/gains on derivative instruments 10 – (6,873) (6,873) – 13,084 13,084

Income 3 2,795 – 2,795 2,568 – 2,568

Investment management fees 4 (1,939) 96 (1,843) (2,016) – (2,016)

Other expenses 5 (555) – (555) (461) – (461)

Foreign exchange gains/(losses) – 70 70 – (304) (304)

Net return/(loss) on ordinary activities before finance 
costs and taxation 301 (34,159) (33,858) 91 56,829 56,920

Finance costs 6 (143) – (143) (175) – (175)

Net return/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 158 (34,159) (34,001) (84) 56,829 56,745

Taxation on return/(loss) on ordinary activities 7 (255) – (255) (211) – (211)

Net (loss)/return on ordinary activities after taxation 
for the year (97) (34,159) (34,256) (295) 56,829 56,534

(Loss)/return per ordinary share 8 (0.07p) (25.22p) (25.29p) (0.22p) 41.88p 41.66p

The Company does not have any other comprehensive income. Accordingly the net (loss)/return on ordinary activities after taxation 
for the year is also the total comprehensive income for the year and no separate Statement of Comprehensive Income has been 
presented.

The total column of this statement represents the Income Statement of the Company. The revenue and capital columns are 
supplementary and presented for information purposes as recommended by the Statement of Recommended Practice issued by the 
AIC.

No operations were acquired or discontinued in the year and all items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Note

share
capital

£’000

share
premium
account

£’000

capital
redemption

reserve
£’000

other
reserve

£’000

capital
reserve

£’000

revenue
reserve

£’000

total  
shareholders’ 

funds
£’000

Total shareholders’ funds at 
31 December 2017 34,041 20,722 2,767 56,474 123,197 (14,674) 222,527

Repurchase of ordinary shares 13 – – – (741) – – (741)

Net loss on ordinary activities after taxation 
for the year – – – – (34,159) (97) (34,256)

Total shareholders’ funds at 
31 December 2018 34,041 20,722 2,767 55,733 89,038 (14,771) 187,530

Total shareholders’ funds at 
31 December 2016 34,041 20,722 2,767 56,886 66,368 (14,379) 166,405

Repurchase of ordinary shares 13 – – – (412) – – (412)

Net return/(loss) on ordinary activities after 
taxation for the year – – – – 56,829 (295) 56,534

Total shareholders’ funds at 
31 December 2017 34,041 20,722 2,767 56,474 123,197 (14,674) 222,527

The Notes on pages 45 to 58 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2018
Company number 2885584

Notes
2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Fixed assets

Investments 9 185,987 221,792

Current assets

Derivative instruments 10 269 1,123

Debtors 11 3,263 652

Cash collateral held with brokers 16 7,611 –

Cash at bank – 908

11,143 2,683

Creditors

Derivative instruments 10 (6,529) (456)

Bank overdraft (1,718) –

Other creditors 12 (1,353) (1,492)

(9,600) (1,948)

Net current assets 1,543 735

Net assets 187,530 222,527

Capital and reserves

Share capital 13 34,041 34,041

Share premium account 14 20,722 20,722

Capital redemption reserve 14 2,767 2,767

Other reserve 14 55,733 56,474

Capital reserve 14 89,038 123,197

Revenue reserve 14 (14,771) (14,674)

Total shareholders’ funds 187,530 222,527

Net asset value per ordinary share 15 138.77p 164.10p

The Financial Statements on pages 42 to 58 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 28 March 2019 and 
were signed on its behalf by:

David Robins 
Chairman

The Notes on pages 45 to 58 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Principal Activity
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC is an Investment Company incorporated in England and Wales with a premium listing on the London Stock 
Exchange. The Company’s registration number is 2885584, and its registered office is Beech Gate, Millfield Lane, Lower Kingswood, 
Tadworth, Surrey, KT20 6RP. The Company has been approved by HM Revenue & Customs as an Investment Trust under Section 1158 
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and intends to conduct its affairs so as to continue to be approved.

2 Accounting Policies
The Company has prepared its Financial Statements in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”), 
including FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, issued by the Financial Reporting 
Council (“FRC”). The Financial Statements have also been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: 
Financial Statements of Investment Trust Companies and Venture Capital Trusts (“SORP”) issued by the Association of Investment 
Companies (“AIC”), in November 2014 and updated in February 2018 with consequential amendments. The Company is exempt 
from presenting a Cash Flow Statement as a Statement of Changes in Equity is presented and substantially all of the Company’s 
investments are highly liquid and are carried at market value.

a) Basis of accounting – The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost 
convention, except for the measurement at fair value of investments and derivative instruments. 

b) Significant accounting estimates and judgements – The Directors make judgements and estimates concerning the future. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, such as expectations 
of future events, and are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
judgements required in order to determine the appropriate valuation methodology of level 3 financial instruments have a risk of 
causing an adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets. These judgements include making assessments of the possible valuations in 
the event of a listing or other marketability related risks.

c) Segmental reporting – The Company is engaged in a single segment business and, therefore, no segmental reporting is 
provided.

d) Presentation of the Income Statement – In order to reflect better the activities of an investment company and in accordance 
with guidance issued by the AIC, supplementary information which analyses the Income Statement between items of a revenue and 
capital nature has been prepared alongside the Income Statement. The net revenue loss after taxation for the year is the measure 
the Directors believe appropriate in assessing the Company’s compliance with certain requirements set out in Section 1159 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010. 

e) Income – Income from equity investments is accounted for on the date on which the right to receive the payment is established, 
normally the ex-dividend date. Overseas dividends are accounted for gross of any tax deducted at source. Amounts are credited to the 
revenue column of the Income Statement. Where the Company has elected to receive its dividends in the form of additional shares rather 
than cash, the amount of the cash dividend foregone is recognised in the revenue column of the Income Statement. Any excess in the 
value of the shares received over the amount of the cash dividend is recognised in the capital column of the Income Statement. Special 
dividends are treated as a revenue receipt or a capital receipt depending on the facts and circumstances of each particular case. 

Derivative instrument income received from dividends on long contracts for difference (“CFDs”) is accounted for on the date on which 
the right to receive the income is established, normally the ex-dividend date. The amount net of tax is credited to the revenue column 
of the Income Statement.

f) Investment management fees and other expenses – Investment management fees and other expenses are accounted for on 
an accruals basis. The base investment management fee and other expenses are charged in full to revenue. The variable investment 
management fee, effective from 1 October 2018, is charged/credited to capital as it is based on the performance of the net asset 
value per share relative to the Reference Index.

g) Functional currency and foreign exchange – The Directors, having regard to the Company’s share capital, the predominant 
currency in which its investors operate and the currency in which expenses are paid, have determined its functional currency to be 
sterling. Sterling is also the currency in which the Financial Statements are presented. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
are reported in sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the Balance Sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on translation are 
recognised in the Income Statement as a revenue or a capital item depending on the nature of the underlying item to which they 
relate.

h) Finance costs – Finance costs comprise interest on bank overdrafts and interest paid on long CFDs, which are accounted for on 
an accruals basis. Finance costs are charged in full to the revenue column of the Income Statement. 
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2 Accounting Policies continued
i) Taxation – The taxation charge represents the sum of current taxation and deferred taxation. 

Current taxation is taxation suffered at source on overseas income less amounts recoverable under taxation treaties. Taxation is 
charged or credited to the revenue column of the Income Statement, except where it relates to items of a capital nature, in which case 
it is charged or credited to the capital column of the Income Statement. The Company is an approved Investment Trust under Section 
1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and is not liable for UK taxation on capital gains.

Deferred taxation is the taxation expected to be payable or recoverable on timing differences between the treatment of certain items 
for accounting purposes and their treatment for the purposes of computing taxable profits. Deferred taxation is based on tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantially enacted when the taxation is expected to be payable or recoverable. Deferred taxation assets are 
only recognised if it is considered more likely than not that there will be sufficient future taxable profits to utilise them.

j) Investments – The Company’s business is investing in financial instruments with a view to profiting from their total return in the 
form of income and capital growth. This portfolio of investments is managed and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with a documented investment strategy, and information about the portfolio is provided on that basis to the Company’s 
Board of Directors. Investments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss, in accordance with 
the provisions of both Section 11 and Section 12 of FRS 102. The fair value of investments is initially taken to be their cost and is 
subsequently measured as follows:

•  Listed investments are valued at bid prices, or last market prices, depending on the convention of the exchange on which they are 
listed. 

•  Unlisted investments are investments which are not quoted, or are not frequently traded, and are stated at the Directors’ best 
estimate of fair value. The Manager’s Fair Value Committee, which is independent of the portfolio management team, provides 
a recommendation of fair values to the Directors based on recognised valuation techniques that take account of the cost of the 
investment, recent arm’s length transactions in the same or similar investments and financial performance of the investment 
since purchase. 

In accordance with the AIC SORP, the Company includes transaction costs, incidental to the purchase or sale of investments, within 
(losses)/gains on investments in the capital column of the Income Statement and has disclosed these costs in Note 9.

k) Derivative instruments – When appropriate, permitted transactions in derivative instruments are used. Some of the Company’s 
portfolio exposure to Japanese equities is achieved by investment in long CFDs. Long CFDs are classified as other financial 
instruments and are initially accounted and measured at fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and subsequently 
measured at fair value as follows:

•  Long CFDs are valued at the difference between the strike price and the value of the underlying shares in the contract.

l) Debtors – Debtors include securities sold for future settlement, accrued income, and other debtors and prepayments incurred 
in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if 
longer) they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. They are recognised initially at fair value 
and, where applicable, subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

m) Cash collateral held with brokers – These are amounts held in segregated accounts as collateral on behalf of brokers and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

n) Other creditors – Other creditors include securities purchased for future settlement, and other creditors and expenses accrued in 
the ordinary course of business. If payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer) 
they are classified as current liabilities. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. They are recognised initially at fair value 
and, where applicable, subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

o) Capital reserve – The following are accounted for in the capital reserve: 

• Gains and losses on the disposal of investments and derivative instruments;

• Changes in the fair value of investments and derivative instruments held at the year end;

• Foreign exchange gains and losses of a capital nature;

• Dividends receivable which are capital in nature; and

• Costs of repurchasing ordinary shares. 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Y2 Accounting Policies continued
As a result of technical guidance issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in TECH 02/10, the 
determination of realised profits and losses in the context of distributions under the Companies Act 2006, changes in the fair value 
of investments which are readily convertible to cash, without accepting adverse terms at the Balance Sheet date, can be treated as 
realised. Capital reserves, realised and unrealised, are shown in aggregate as capital reserve in the Statement of Changes in Equity 
and the Balance Sheet. At the Balance Sheet date, the portfolio of the Company consisted of investments listed on a recognised 
stock exchange and derivative instruments contracted with counterparties having an adequate credit rating, and the portfolio was 
considered to be readily convertible to cash. The exception at the prior year end was the level 3 investment which had unrealised 
foreign exchange losses of £92,000.

3 Income

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

Investment income

Overseas dividends 2,551 2,111

Derivative income

Dividends received on long CFDs 244 457

Total income 2,795 2,568

4 Investment Management Fees

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

Investment management fees – base (charged to revenue) 1,939 2,016

Investment management fees – variable (charged to capital) (96) –

1,843 2,016

FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited is the Company’s Alternative Investment Fund Manager and has delegated portfolio management 
to FIL Investments International (“FII”), the Investment Manager. Both companies are Fidelity group companies.

From the 1 July 2018, the Company adopted a new fee arrangement which reduced the base management fee from 0.85% of gross 
assets to 0.70% of net assets. In addition, with effect from 1 October 2018, there is a +/- 0.20% variation based on performance 
relative to the Reference Index. Fees are payable monthly in arrears and are calculated on a daily basis.

Prior to this date, FII charged portfolio management services fees at an annual rate of 0.85% of gross assets under management. 
Fees were paid quarterly in arrears and calculated on the last business day of March, June, September and December.

Further details of the terms of the Management Agreement are given in the Directors’ Report on page 23.
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5 Other Expenses

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

AIC fees 14 10

Secretarial and administration fees payable to the Investment Manager 47 47

Custody fees 23 18

Depositary fees 24 16

Directors’ expenses 2 28

Directors’ fees1 141 113

Legal and professional fees 82 50

Marketing expenses 100 67

Printing and publication expenses 61 53

Registrars’ fees 24 21

Sundry other expenses 13 14

Fees payable to the Company’s Independent Auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements 24 24

555 461

1 Details of the breakdown of Directors’ fees are provided in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 31.

6 Finance Costs

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

Interest paid on long CFDs 141 175

Interest on bank overdrafts 2 –

143 175

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Y7 Taxation on Return on Ordinary Activities

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

a) Analysis of taxation charge for the year

Overseas taxation (see Note 7b) 255 211

b) Factors affecting the taxation charge for the year
The taxation charge for the year is lower than the standard rate of UK corporation tax for an investment trust company of 19.00% 
(2017: 19.25%). A reconciliation of tax at the standard rate of UK corporation tax to the taxation charge for the year is shown below:

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

Net (loss)/return on ordinary activities before taxation (34,001) 56,745

Net (loss)/return on ordinary activities before taxation multiplied by the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax of 19.00% (2017: 19.25%) (6,460) 10,923

Effects of:

Losses/(gains) on investments not taxable1 6,508 (10,940)

Income not taxable (479) (406)

Excess management expenses not utilised 431 423

Overseas taxation 255 211

Taxation charge for the year (see Note 7a) 255 211

1  The Company is exempt from UK taxation on capital gains as it meets the HM Revenue & Customs criteria for an investment company set out in Section 1159 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010.

c) Deferred taxation
A deferred taxation asset of £4,424,000 (2017: £4,038,000), in respect of excess expenses of £26,025,000 (2017: £23,756,000), has not 
been recognised as it is unlikely that there will be sufficient future taxable profits to utilise these expenses.

8 (Loss)/return per Ordinary Share

Year ended 31 December 2018 Year ended 31 December 2017

revenue capital total revenue capital total

(Loss)/return per ordinary share (0.07p) (25.22p) (25.29p) (0.22p) 41.88p 41.66p

The returns per ordinary share are based on, respectively the net revenue loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year of 
£97,000 (2017: net revenue loss £295,000), the net capital loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year of £34,159,000 (2017: 
net capital return £56,829,000) and the net total loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year of £34,256,000 (2017: net total 
return £56,534,000), and on 135,439,468 ordinary shares (2017: 135,684,503), being the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
held outside of Treasury during the year.
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9 Investments

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Listed investments 185,987 220,886

Unlisted investments – 906

Investments at fair value 185,987 221,792

 
Opening book cost 167,559 128,765

Opening investment holding gains 54,233 33,012

Opening fair value 221,792 161,777

Movements in the year

Purchases at cost 149,012 156,427

Sales – proceeds (157,365) (140,461)

Sales – gains in the year 11,844 22,828

Movement in investment holding (losses)/gains in the year (39,296) 21,221

Closing fair value 185,987 221,792

 
Closing book cost 171,050 167,559

Closing investment holding gains 14,937 54,233

Closing fair value 185,987 221,792

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

(Losses)/gains on investments for the year

Gains on sales of investments 11,844 22,828

Investment holding (losses)/gains (39,296) 21,221

(27,452) 44,049

Investment transaction costs
Transaction costs incurred in the acquisition and disposal of investments, which are included in the gains on sales of investments 
above, were as follows:

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

Purchase transaction costs 61 144

Sales transaction costs 70 126

131 270

The portfolio turnover rate for the year was 63.7% (2017: 80.1%).

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Y10 Derivative Instruments

Year ended
31.12.18

£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

£’000

(Losses)/gains on derivative instruments

Gains on long CFD positions closed 54 16,612

Movement in investment holding losses on long CFDs (6,927) (3,528)

(6,873) 13,084

Derivative instruments recognised on the Balance Sheet

2018 2017

fair value
£’000

portfolio
exposure

£’000
fair value

£’000

portfolio
exposure

£’000

Derivative instrument assets – long CFDs 269 6,789 1,123 31,628

Derivative instrument liabilities – long CFDs (6,529) 23,226 (456) 10,697

(6,260) 30,015 667 42,325

11 Debtors

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Securities sold for future settlement 3,010 353

Accrued income 167 216

Other debtors and prepayments 86 83

3,263 652

12 Other Creditors

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Securities purchased for future settlement 1,138 714

Creditors and accruals 215 778

1,353 1,492
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13 Share Capital

2018 2017
number of

shares £’000
number of

shares £’000

Issued, allotted and fully paid

Ordinary shares of 25 pence each held outside Treasury

Beginning of the year 135,606,695 33,902 135,981,695 33,996

Ordinary shares repurchased into Treasury (470,500) (118) (375,000) (94)

End of the year 135,136,195 33,784 135,606,695 33,902

Issued, allotted and fully paid

Ordinary shares of 25 pence each held in Treasury*

Beginning of the year 555,000 139 180,000 45

Ordinary shares repurchased into Treasury 470,500 118 375,000 94

End of the year 1,025,500 257 555,000 139

Total share capital 34,041 34,041

* Ordinary shares held in Treasury carry no rights to vote, to receive a dividend or to participate in a winding up of the Company.

The Company repurchased 470,500 ordinary shares (2017: 375,000 shares) and held them in Treasury. The £741,000 (2017: £412,000) 
cost of repurchase was charged to the other reserve.

14 Reserves
The share premium account represents the amount by which the proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares, on the exercise of rights 
attached to subscription shares, exceeds the nominal value of those ordinary shares. It is not distributable by way of dividend. It 
cannot be used to fund share repurchases. 

The capital redemption reserve maintains the equity share capital of the Company and represents the nominal value of shares 
repurchased and cancelled. It is not distributable by way of dividend. It cannot be used to fund share repurchases.

The other reserve was created in 1999 when the share premium account at that time was cancelled. It can be used to fund share 
repurchases.

The capital reserve represents realised gains and losses on investments and derivatives sold, unrealised increases and decreases 
in the fair value of investments and derivatives held and other income and costs recognised in the capital column of the Income 
Statement. It can be used to fund share repurchases and it is distributable by way of dividend.

The revenue reserve represents the retained revenue losses recognised in the revenue column of the Income Statement. It could be 
distributed by way of dividend if it were not in deficit.

15 Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share
The net asset value per ordinary share is based on net assets of £187,530,000 (2017: £222,527,000) and on 135,136,195 (2017: 
135,606,695) ordinary shares, being the number of ordinary shares of 25 pence each held outside of Treasury at the year end. It is the 
Company’s policy that shares held in Treasury will only be reissued at a premium to net asset value per share and, therefore, shares 
held in Treasury have no dilutive effect.

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Y16 Financial Instruments
Management of Risk
The Company’s investment activities in pursuit of its objective involve certain inherent risks. The Board confirms that there is an ongoing 
process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risks faced by the Company. The Board, with the assistance of the Manager, 
has developed a risk matrix which, as part of the internal control process, identifies the risks that the Company faces. Principal risks 
identified are market, performance, geopolitical, discount control, gearing and currency risks. Other risks identified are cybercrime, 
tax and regulatory and operational risks, including those relating to third party service providers covering investment management, 
marketing and business development, company secretarial, fund administration and operations and support functions. Risks are 
identified and graded in this process, together with steps taken in mitigation, and are updated and reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
These risks and how they are identified, evaluated and managed are shown in the Strategic Report on pages 13 and 14.

This note refers to the identification, measurement and management of risks potentially affecting the value of financial instruments.

The Company’s financial instruments comprise:

• Equity shares held in accordance with the Company’s objective and policies; 

• Derivative instruments which comprise long CFDs; and 

• Cash, liquid resources and short term debtors and creditors that arise from its operations. 

The risks identified arising from the Company’s financial instruments are market price risk (which comprises interest rate risk, foreign 
currency risk and other price risk), liquidity risk, counterparty risk, credit risk and derivative instrument risk. The Board reviews and 
agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below. These policies are consistent with those followed 
last year.

Market price risk

Interest rate risk
The Company finances its operations through its share capital and reserves. In addition, the Company has a geared exposure to 
Japanese equities through the use of long CFDs which incur funding costs and can provide collateral in yen. The level of gearing is 
reviewed by the Board and the Portfolio Manager. The Company is exposed to a financial risk arising as a result of increases in yen 
interest rates associated with the funding of the long CFDs.

Interest rate risk exposure
The values of the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to movements in interest rates are shown below:

2018
£’000

2017
£’000

Exposure to financial instruments that bear interest

Long CFDs – portfolio exposure less fair value 36,275 41,658

Bank overdraft 1,718 –

37,993 41,658

Exposure to financial instruments that earn interest

Cash collateral held with brokers 7,611 –

Cash at bank – 908

7,611 908

Net exposure to financial instruments that bear interest 30,382 40,750
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16 Financial Instruments continued
Foreign currency risk
The Company’s net (loss)/return on ordinary activities after taxation for the year and its net assets may be affected by foreign 
exchange movements because the Company has income and assets which are denominated in yen whereas the Company’s 
functional currency is sterling. The Company may also be subject to short term exposure from exchange rate movements, for example, 
between the date when an investment is purchased or sold and the date when settlement of the transaction occurs. The Company 
does not hedge the sterling value of investments or other net assets priced in yen by the use of derivative instruments.

Three significant areas have been identified where foreign currency risk may impact the Company:

• Movements in exchange rates affecting the value of investments and long CFDs;

• Movements in exchange rates affecting short term timing differences; and 

• Movements in exchange rates affecting income received.

Currency exposure of financial assets
The currency exposure profile of the Company’s financial assets is shown below:

currency

investments 
held at

fair value
£’000

long 
exposure to

derivative
instruments

£’000
debtors1

£’000

cash at 
bank
£’000

2018

total
£’000

Japanese yen 185,987 30,015 10,788 – 226,790

1 Debtors include amounts held at futures clearing houses and brokers and exclude other debtors and prepayments of £86,000 which are denominated in sterling.

currency

investments
held at

fair value
£’000

long 
exposure to

derivative
instruments

£’000
debtors1

£’000

cash 
at bank

£’000

2017

total
£’000

Japanese yen 221,792 42,325 569 908 265,594

1 Excludes other debtors and prepayments of £83,000 which are denominated in sterling.

Currency exposure of financial liabilities
The currency exposure profile of the Company’s financial liabilities is shown below:

currency

bank
overdraft

£’000

other
creditors

£’000

2018

total
£’000

Japanese yen 1,718 1,138 2,856

currency

bank
overdraft

£’000

other
creditors

£’000

2017

total
£’000

Japanese yen – 714 714

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Y16 Financial Instruments continued
Other price risk
Other price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments used in the Company’s business. It represents 
the potential loss the Company might suffer through holding market positions in the face of price movements. The Board meets at least 
quarterly to consider the asset allocation of the portfolio and the risk associated with particular industry sectors within the parameters 
of the investment objective. The Portfolio Manager is responsible for actively managing and monitoring the existing portfolio, selected 
in accordance with the overall asset allocation parameters described above, and seeks to ensure that individual stocks also meet an 
acceptable risk/reward profile. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The 
Company’s assets mainly comprise readily realisable securities and derivative instruments which can be sold easily to meet funding 
commitments if necessary. Short-term flexibility, if required, is achieved by the use of a bank overdraft.

Liquidity risk exposure
At 31 December 2018, the undiscounted gross cash outflows of the financial liabilities were all repayable within one year and 
consisted of derivative instrument liabilities of £6,529,000 (2017: £456,000), bank overdraft of £1,718,000 (2017: nil) and other creditors 
of £1,353,000 (2017: £1,492,000).

Counterparty risk
The long CFDs in which the Company invests are not traded on an exchange but instead are traded between counterparties based on 
contractual relationships, under the terms outlined in the International Swaps and Derivatives Association’s (“ISDA”) market standard 
derivative legal documentation. As a result the Company is subject to the risk that a counterparty may not perform its obligations 
under the related contract. In accordance with the risk management process which the Manager employs, the Manager will seek to 
minimise such risk by only entering into transactions with counterparties which it believes to have an adequate credit rating at the 
time the transaction is entered into, by ensuring that formal legal agreements covering the terms of the contract are entered into in 
advance, and through adopting a counterparty risk framework which measures, monitors and manages counterparty risk by the use of 
internal and external credit agency ratings and evaluates derivative instrument credit risk exposure.

Cash collateral
For derivative transactions, collateral is used to reduce the risk of both parties to the contract. Collateral is managed on a daily basis 
for all relevant transactions. At 31 December 2018, £7,611,000 (2017: nil) was held in the broker collateral account in cash to reduce 
the credit risk exposure of the broker to the Company’s unrealised losses on derivative positions. At 31 December 2018, no collateral 
amounts were held by the Company at JPMorgan (2017: £1,250,000) as the Company had no unrealised profits on its derivative 
positions.

Credit risk
Financial instruments may be adversely affected if any of the institutions with which money is deposited suffer insolvency or other 
financial difficulties. All transactions are carried out with brokers that have been approved by the Manager and are settled on a 
delivery versus payment basis. Limits are set on the amount that may be due from any one broker and are kept under review by the 
Manager. Exposure to credit risk arises on unsettled security transactions, long CFD contracts and cash at bank.

Derivative instruments risk
The risks and risk management processes which result from the use of long CFDs are included within the risk categories disclosed 
above. Long CFDs are used by the Manager to gain unfunded long exposure to equity markets, sectors or single stocks. “Unfunded” 
exposure is exposure gained without an initial outflow of capital. The risk and performance contribution of long CFDs held in the 
Company’s portfolio is overseen by the Manager’s experienced, specialist derivative instruments team that uses portfolio risk 
assessment and construction tools to manage risk and investment performance.

RISK SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
Based on the financial instruments held and interest rates at 31 December 2018, an increase of 0.25% in interest rates throughout the 
year, with all other variables held constant, would have increased the net loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year and 
decreased the net assets of the Company by £75,000 (2017: decreased the net return and net assets by £102,000). A decrease of 
0.25% in interest rates throughout the year would have had an equal but opposite effect.
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16 Financial Instruments continued
Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis
Based on the financial instruments held and currency exchange rates at 31 December 2018, a 10% strengthening of the sterling 
exchange rate against the yen, with all other variables held constant, would have increased the Company’s net loss on ordinary 
activities after taxation for the year and decreased the Company’s net assets by £20,357,000 (2017: decreased the net return and net 
assets by £24,079,000). A 10% weakening of the sterling exchange rate against the yen would have decreased the Company’s net 
loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year and increased the Company’s net assets by £24,881,000 (2017: increased the net 
return and net assets by £29,431,000).

Other price risk – exposure to investments risk sensitivity analysis
Based on the investments held and share prices at 31 December 2018, an increase of 10% in share prices, with all other variables 
held constant, would have decreased the Company’s net loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year and increased the net 
assets of the Company by £18,599,000 (2017: increased the net return and net assets by £22,179,000). A decrease of 10% in share 
prices would have had an equal and opposite effect.

Other price risk – exposure to derivative instruments risk sensitivity analysis
Based on the long CFDs held and share prices at 31 December 2018, an increase of 10% in the share prices underlying the long 
CFDs, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased the Company’s net loss on ordinary activities after taxation for 
the year and increased the net assets of the Company by £3,002,000 (2017: increased the net return and net assets by £4,233,000). 
A decrease of 10% in share prices would have had an equal and opposite effect.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are stated in the Balance Sheet at values which are not materially different to their fair values. As 
explained in Notes 2 (j) and (k), investments and derivative instruments are shown at fair value. In the case of cash and cash 
equivalents, book value approximates to fair value due to the short maturity of the instruments.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Company is required to disclose the fair value hierarchy that classifies its financial instruments measured at fair value at one of 
three levels, according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values.

Classification Input

Level 1 Valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets

Level 2 Valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1

Level 3 Valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable 
market data

Categorisation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement of the relevant asset. The valuation techniques used by the Company are explained in Note 2 (j) and (k). The table 
below sets out the Company’s fair value hierarchy:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
level 1

£’000
level 2

£’000
level 3

£’000

2018
total
£’000

Investments 185,987 – – 185,987

Derivative instrument assets – 269 – 269

185,987 269 – 186,256

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative instrument liabilities – (6,529) – (6,529)

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Y16 Financial Instruments continued

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
level 1
£’000

level 2
£’000

level 3
£’000

2017
total

£’000

Investments 220,886 – 906 221,792

Derivative instrument assets – 1,123 – 1,123

220,886 1,123 906 222,915

 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative instrument liabilities – (456) – (456)

The table below sets out the movements in level 3 financial instruments during the year:

Year ended
31.12.18

level 3
£’000

Year ended
31.12.17

level 3
£’000

Beginning of the year 906 958

Transfer out of Level 3 – Raksul1 (906) –

Foreign exchange movement – (52)

End of the year – 906

1 Raksul was transferred out of level 3 during the year when the Company was listed.

17 Capital Resources and Gearing
The Company does not have any externally imposed capital requirements. The financial resources of the Company comprise its share 
capital and reserves, as disclosed on the Balance Sheet, and its gearing which is achieved through the use of long CFDs. Financial 
resources are managed in accordance with the Company’s investment policy and in pursuit of its objective, both of which are detailed 
in the Strategic Report on page 11. The principal risks and their management are disclosed in the Strategic Report on pages 12 to 14 
and in Note 16.

The Company’s gearing at the end of the year is shown below:

2018
portfolio

 exposure
£’000

2017
portfolio 

exposure
£’000

Investments 185,987 221,792

Long CFDs 30,015 42,325

Total Portfolio Exposure 216,002 264,117

Shareholders' funds 187,530 222,527

Gearing1 15.2% 18.7%

1 Gearing is the amount by which the Portfolio Exposure exceeds Shareholders’ Funds expressed as a percentage of Shareholders’ Funds.
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18 Transactions with the Manager and Related Parties
FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited is the Company’s Alternative Investment Fund Manager and has delegated portfolio management 
and the role of company secretary to FIL Investments International (“FII”), the Investment Manager. Both companies are Fidelity group 
companies. Details of the fee arrangements are given in the Directors’ Report on page 23 and in Note 4. During the year, fees for 
portfolio management services of £1,843,000 (2017: £2,016,000) and secretarial and administration fees of £47,000 (2017: £47,000) 
were payable to FII. At the Balance Sheet date, fees for portfolio management services of £84,000 (2017: £562,000) and secretarial 
and administration fees of £12,000 (2017: £12,000) were accrued and included in other creditors. FII also provides the Company with 
marketing services. The total amount payable for these services during the year was £100,000 (2017: £67,000), and at the Balance 
Sheet date £17,000 (2017: £6,000) was accrued and included in other creditors.

Disclosures of the Directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company and Directors’ fees and taxable benefits relating to 
reasonable travel expenses paid to the Directors are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 31 and 32. In addition 
to the fees and taxable benefits disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, £14,000 (2017: £10,000) of Employers’ National 
Insurance Contributions was also paid by the Company.

19 Alternative Performance Measures
Total return is considered to be an alternative performance measure (as defined in the Glossary of Terms on page 66).  

The tables below provide information relating to the NAVs and share prices of the Company and the total returns for the years ended 
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

2018

Net asset
 value per

ordinary
share

Share
price

NAV and share price at 31 December 2017 164.10p 151.50p

NAV and share price at 31 December 2018 138.77p 127.00p

Total Return for the year -15.4% -16.2%

2017

Net asset
 value per

ordinary
share

Share
price

NAV and share price at 31 December 2016 122.37p 101.50p

NAV and share price at 31 December 2017 164.10p 151.50p

Total Return for the year +34.1% +49.3%

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Financial Calendar

The key dates in the Company’s calendar are:

31 December 2018  Financial Year End

March 2019  Announcement of the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2018

April 2019  Publication of this Report

21 May 2019  Annual General Meeting

30 June 2019  Half-Year End

July/August 2019  Announcement of the Half-Yearly results for the six months ended 30 June 2019

August 2019  Publication of the Half-Yearly Report
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Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of 
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC will be held at 25 Cannon Street, 
London EC4M 5TA on 21 May 2019 at 4.00 pm for the following 
purposes:

1.  To receive and adopt the Annual Report and Financial 
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

2. To re-elect Mr David Robins as a Director. 

3. To re-elect Mr Philip Kay as a Director. 

4. To re-elect Sir Laurence Magnus as a Director. 

5. To re-elect Mr Dominic Ziegler as a Director. 

6. To elect Ms Sarah MacAulay as a Director. 

7. To elect Mr David Graham as a Director. 

8.  To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report (excluding 
the section headed The Remuneration Policy set out on 
page 30) for the year ended 31 December 2018. 

9.  To reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as Auditor of the Company to 
hold office until the conclusion of the next general meeting at 
which financial statements are laid before the Company. 

10.  To authorise the Directors to determine the Auditor’s 
remuneration. 

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following special business 
resolutions of which Resolutions 11 and 14 will be proposed 
as ordinary resolutions and Resolutions 12 and 13 as special 
resolutions.

Authority to allot shares and disapply pre-emption rights
Resolutions 11 and 12 will, if approved, authorise the Directors to 
allot a limited number of ordinary shares (or to sell any ordinary 
shares which the Company elects to hold in Treasury) for cash 
without first offering such shares to existing ordinary shareholders 
pro-rata to their existing holdings. The limit set by the Board is 
5% of the number of ordinary shares of the Company (including 
Treasury shares) in issue on 28 March 2019. The Directors will 
only issue new ordinary shares, or dispose of ordinary shares 
held in Treasury, under this authority to take advantage of 
opportunities in the market as they arise and only if they believe 
it is advantageous to the Company’s shareholders to do so. 
Any ordinary shares held in Treasury would only be re-issued 
at no less than net asset value (“NAV”) per share or at a 
premium to NAV per share. This would ensure that the net effect 
of repurchasing and then re-issuing the ordinary shares would 
enhance NAV per share.

11.  THAT the Directors be and they are hereby generally and 
unconditionally authorised in accordance with Section 551 
of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) to exercise all the 
powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company or 
to grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any securities 
into shares in the Company (“relevant securities”) up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £1,702,021 (approximately 
5% of the aggregate nominal amount of the issued share 
capital of the Company (including Treasury shares) as at 

28 March 2019) and so that the Directors may impose any 
limits or restrictions and make any arrangements which they 
consider necessary or appropriate to deal with Treasury 
shares, fractional entitlements, record dates, legal, regulatory 
or practical problems in, or under the laws of, any territory or 
any other matter, such authority to expire at the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company 
or the date 15 months after the passing of this resolution, 
whichever is the earlier, but so that this authority shall allow 
the Company to make offers or agreements before the 
expiry of this authority which would or might require relevant 
securities to be allotted after such expiry as if the authority 
conferred by this resolution had not expired. All previous 
unexpired authorities are revoked, but without prejudice to 
any allotment of shares or grant of rights already made, 
offered or agreed to be made pursuant to such authorities.

12.  THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 11, set out above, 
the Directors be and they are hereby authorised, pursuant 
to Sections 570-573 of the Act to allot equity securities (as 
defined in Section 560 of the Act) for cash pursuant to the 
authority given by the said Resolution 11 and/or to sell 
ordinary shares held by the Company as Treasury shares for 
cash, as if Section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such 
allotment or sale, provided that this power shall be limited: 

 a)  to the allotment of equity securities or sale of Treasury 
shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of 
£1,702,021 (approximately 5% of the aggregate nominal 
amount of the issued share capital of the Company 
(including Treasury shares) as at 28 March 2019); and 

 b)  by the condition that allotments of equity securities or 
sales of Treasury shares may only be made pursuant 
to this authority at a price of not less than the NAV per 
share, 

  and this power shall expire at the conclusion of the next 
AGM of the Company or the date 15 months after the 
passing of this Resolution, whichever is the earlier, save 
that this authority shall allow the Company to make offers 
or agreements before the expiry of this authority, and the 
Directors may allot equity securities in relation to such an 
offer or agreement as if the authority conferred by this 
Resolution had not expired.

Authority to repurchase shares
Resolution 13 is a special resolution which, if approved, will 
renew the Company’s authority to purchase up to 14.99% of the 
number of ordinary shares in issue (excluding Treasury shares) on 
28 March 2019 either for immediate cancellation or for retention 
as Treasury shares, at the determination of the Board. Once 
shares are held in Treasury, the Directors may only dispose of 
them in accordance with the relevant legislation by subsequently 
selling the shares for cash or cancelling the shares. Purchases 
of ordinary shares will be at the discretion of the Board and 
within guidelines set from time-to-time by the Board in the light 
of prevailing market conditions. Purchases will only be made in 
the market at prices below the prevailing NAV per share, thereby 
resulting in an increased NAV per share.
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Y13.  THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and 
unconditionally authorised in accordance with Section 701 
of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of Section 693 of the Act) 
of ordinary shares of 25 pence each (“the shares”) in the 
capital of the Company provided that:

 a)  the maximum number of shares hereby authorised to be 
purchased shall be 20,228,429; 

 b)  the minimum price which may be paid for a share is 
25 pence; 

 c)  the maximum price which may be paid for each share is 
the higher of: 

  i)  an amount equal to 105% of the average of the 
middle market quotations for a share taken from 
the London Stock Exchange Official List for the five 
business days immediately preceding the day on 
which the share is purchased; and 

  ii)  the amount stipulated by Regulatory Technical 
Standards adopted by the European Commission 
pursuant to Article 5(6) of the Market Abuse 
Regulation (EU) No. 596/2014; 

 d)  the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the 
conclusion of the next AGM of the Company unless such 
authority is renewed prior to such time; and 

 e)  the Company may make a contract to purchase shares 
under the authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry 
of such authority which will or may be executed wholly 
or partly after the expiration of such authority and 
may make a purchase of shares pursuant to any such 
contract. 

Continuation of the Company
Resolution 14 is an ordinary resolution that relates to the 
continuation of the Company.

14.  THAT the Company continues to carry on business as an 
investment trust.

By Order of the Board
FIL Investments International
Secretary
28 March 2019

Notes:
1.  Members are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all 

or any of their rights to attend and to speak and vote on 
their behalf at the meeting. A shareholder may appoint 
more than one proxy in relation to the AGM provided that 
each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached 
to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. A 
proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company, but must 
attend the AGM to represent you. To appoint a proxy go to 
www.signalshares.com. If you need help with appointing a 
proxy online or require a paper proxy form, please contact 

our Registrar, Link Asset Services, on +44 (0) 371 664 0391, 
calls are charged at the standard geographic rate and will 
vary by provider. Calls from outside the United Kingdom will 
be charged at the applicable international rate. Lines are 
open between 09:00 – 17:30, Monday to Friday excluding 
public holidays in England and Wales. 

2.  To appoint a proxy via the share portal at 
www.signalshares.com, you will need to log in to your 
share portal account or register if you have not previously 
done so. To register you will need your Investor Code 
which can be found on your share certificate or dividend 
confirmation or by contacting our Registrar, Link Asset 
Services (details above). In the case of CREST members, you 
can vote by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment 
service in accordance with the procedures set out in Note 5 
below. 

3.  To be valid, an online proxy appointment or other instrument 
appointing a proxy must be received by our Registrar, Link 
Asset Services, no later than 16:00 on Friday 17 May 2019 
or no later than 48 hours before any adjourned meeting, 
excluding non-business days. The appointment of a proxy will 
not prevent a shareholder attending the AGM and voting in 
person if he/she wishes to do so. 

4.  In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who 
tenders the vote shall be accepted to the exclusion of the 
votes of the other joint holders and for this purpose, seniority 
shall be determined by the order in which the names stand 
in the Register of Members. 

5.  To appoint a proxy or to give or amend an instruction to 
a previously appointed proxy via the CREST system, the 
CREST message must be received by the issuer’s agent 
RA10 by 16:00 on 17 May 2019. For this purpose, the time 
of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined 
by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST 
Applications Host) from which the issuer’s agent is able 
to retrieve the message. After this time any change of 
instructions to a proxy appointed through CREST should 
be communicated to the proxy by other means. CREST 
Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members and 
those CREST Members who have appointed voting service 
provider(s) should contact their CREST sponsor or voting 
service provider(s) for assistance with appointing proxies 
via CREST. For further information on CREST procedures, 
limitations and systems timings please refer to the CREST 
Manual. We may treat as invalid a proxy appointment sent 
by CREST in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5) 
(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. In any 
case your proxy form must be received by the Company’s 
Registrar no later than 16:00 on 17 May 2019.

6.  All members are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM 
and ask questions. The right to vote at the meeting will be 
determined by reference to the Register of Members as at 
close of business on 17 May 2019. 

https://www.signalshares.com/
https://www.signalshares.com/
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7.  Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person 
nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to 
enjoy information rights (a “Nominated Person”) may, under 
an agreement between him and the member by whom he 
was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or to have 
someone else appointed) as a proxy for the meeting. If a 
Nominated Person has no such proxy appointment right 
or does not wish to exercise it, he may, under any such 
agreement, have a right to give instructions to the member 
as to the exercise of voting rights. The statement of the rights 
of members in relation to the appointment of proxies in Note 
1 on previous page does not apply to Nominated Persons. 
The right described in that paragraph can only be exercised 
by members of the Company. 

8.  If the Chairman, as a result of any proxy appointments, is 
given discretion as to how the votes which are the subject 
of those proxies are cast and the voting rights in respect 
of those discretionary proxies, when added to the interests 
in the Company’s securities already held by the Chairman, 
result in the Chairman holding such number of voting rights 
that he has a notifiable obligation under the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules, the Chairman will make the necessary 
notifications to the Company and the Financial Conduct 
Authority. As a result, any member holding 3% or more of 
the voting rights in the Company who grants the Chairman a 
discretionary proxy in respect of some or all of those voting 
rights and so would otherwise have a notification obligation 
under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules, need not make 
separate notification to the Company and the Financial 
Conduct Authority. 

9.  Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities 
Regulations 2001, the Company has specified that to be 
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM (and for the purpose 
of determining the number of votes they may cast), members 
must be entered on the Register of Members by close of 
business on 17 May 2019. If the meeting is adjourned then, 
to be so entitled, members must be entered on the Register 
of Members by close of business on the day two days before 
the time fixed for the adjourned meeting, or, if the Company 
gives notice of the adjourned meeting, at any other time 
specified in that notice. 

10.  As at 28 March 2019 (the latest practicable date prior to the 
publication of this document) the Company’s issued share 
capital consisted of 136,161,695 ordinary shares (including 
Treasury Shares). The number of Treasury shares held by 
the Company was 1,215,533. Therefore, the total number 
of shares with voting rights in the Company as at 28 March 
2019 was 134,946,162. 

11.  Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or 
more corporate representatives who may exercise on its 
behalf all of its powers as a member provided that they do 
not do so in relation to the same shares. 

12.  Shareholders and any proxies or representatives they 
appoint understand that by attending the meeting they 
are expressly agreeing that they are willing to receive any 
communications, including communications relating to the 
Company’s securities, made at the meeting. 

13.  It is possible that, pursuant to requests made by members of 
the Company under Section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, 
the Company may be required to publish on its website a 
statement setting out any matter relating to the audit of the 
Company’s accounts (including the Auditor’s report and the 
conduct of the audit) that is to be laid before the AGM or 
any circumstance connected with an Auditor of the Company 
ceasing to hold office since the previous meeting at which 
the Annual Report and Financial Statements were laid. The 
Company may not require the shareholders requesting any 
such website publication to pay its expenses in complying 
with such requests. Where the Company is required to 
place a statement on a website under Section 527 of the 
Companies Act 2006, it must forward the statement to the 
Company’s Auditor not later than the time when it makes 
the statement available on the website. The business which 
may be dealt with at the AGM includes any statement that 
the Company has been required under Section 527 of the 
Companies Act 2006 to publish on its website. 

14. No Director has a service contract with the Company. 

15.  A copy of this notice and other information required by 
Section 311A of the Companies Act 2006 is published on the 
Company’s website at www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com. 

Registered office: Beech Gate, Millfield Lane, Lower Kingswood, 
Tadworth, Surrey KT20 6RP.

Notice of Meeting continued

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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Shareholder Information

Investing in Fidelity Japan Trust PLC
Fidelity Japan Trust PLC is a company listed on the London 
Stock Exchange and you can buy its shares through a platform, 
stockbroker, share shop or bank. Fidelity also offers a range 
of options, so that you can invest in a way that is best for you. 
Details of how to invest can be found on Fidelity’s website at 
www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com

CONTACT INFORMATION
Shareholders and Fidelity Platform Investors should contact the 
appropriate administrator using the contact details given below 
and in the next column. Links to the websites of major platforms 
can be found online at www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com

Shareholders on the main share register
Contact Link Asset Services, Registrar to Fidelity Japan Trust PLC, 
The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU. 

Telephone: 0371 664 0300 (calls are charged at the standard 
geographic rate and will vary by provider. Calls outside the 
United Kingdom will be charged at the applicable international 
rate. Lines are open 9:00 – 17:30, Monday to Friday excluding 
public holidays in England and Wales).

Email: enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk

Details of individual shareholdings and other information can 
also be obtained online from the Registrar’s Share Portal at 
www.signalshares.com. Shareholders are able to manage their 
shareholding online by registering for the Share Portal, a free 
and secure online access service. Facilities include:

Account Enquiry – Shareholders can access their personal 
shareholding, including share transaction history, dividend 
payment history and obtain an up-to-date shareholding valuation.

Amendment of Standing Data – Shareholders can change 
their registered postal address and add, change or delete 
dividend mandate instructions. Shareholders can also download 
forms such as change of address, stock transfer and dividend 
mandates as well as buy and sell shares in the Company.

Should you have any queries in respect of the Link Share Portal, 
contact the helpline on 0371 664 0391 (calls are charged at 
the standard geographic rate and will vary by provider. Calls 
outside the United Kingdom will be charged at the applicable 
international rate. Lines are open 9:00 – 17:30, Monday to Friday 
excluding public holidays in England and Wales).

Link Share Dealing Service
Link Asset Services offer a low cost share dealing service 
to buy or sell shares. Further information is available at 
www.linksharedeal.com, or by telephoning 0371 664 0445 (calls 
are charged at the standard geographic rate and will vary by 
provider. Calls outside the United Kingdom will be charged at 
the applicable international rate. Lines are open 8:00 – 16:30, 
Monday to Friday excluding public holidays in England and 
Wales). The Link Share Dealing Services allows you to deal in the 
shares of other companies for which Link Asset Services acts as 
Registrar, provided you are already a shareholder in the relevant 
company, and that company offers the Share Deal facility to its 
shareholders.

Fidelity Platform Investors
Contact Fidelity, using the freephone numbers given below, or 
by writing to: UK Customer Service, Fidelity International, Oakhill 
House, 130 Tonbridge Road, Hildenborough, Tonbridge, Kent 
TN11 9DZ. 

Website: www.fidelity.co.uk/its

Private investors: call free on 0800 41 41 10, 9:00 – 18:00, 
Monday to Saturday.

Financial advisers: call free on 0800 41 41 81, 8:00 – 18:00, 
Monday to Friday.

General enquiries
General enquiries should be made to the Secretary, at the 
Company’s registered office: FIL Investments International, 
Investment Trusts, Beech Gate, Millfield Lane, Lower Kingswood, 
Tadworth, Surrey KT20 6RP.

Telephone: 01737 837846

Email: investmenttrusts@fil.com

Website: www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com

If you hold Fidelity Japan Trust PLC shares in an account provided 
by Fidelity International, you will receive a report every six months 
detailing all of your transactions and the value of your shares.

ShareGift
You may donate your shares to charity free of charge through 
ShareGift. Further details are available at www.sharegift.org or 
by telephoning 020 7930 3737.

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
https://www.signalshares.com/
http://www.linksharedeal.com/
https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
http://www.sharegift.org/
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General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”)
What personal data is collected and how it is used
The Company is an investment trust which is a public limited company and has certain regulatory obligations such as the requirement 
to send documents to its shareholders, for example, the Annual Report, proxy forms and other documents that relate to meetings of the 
Company. The Company will therefore collect shareholders’ personal data such as names, addresses and identification numbers or 
investor codes and will use this personal data to fulfil its statutory obligations.

Any personal data collected will be kept securely on computer systems and in some circumstances on paper. Personal information is 
kept secure in line with Fidelity’s Information Security policies and standards. If you are unhappy with how we have used your personal 
data, you can complain by contacting the UK Data Protection Officer at Fidelity International, Beech Gate, Millfield Lane, Surrey KT20 6RP.

Sharing personal data
In order to assist the Company in meeting its statutory requirements, the Company delegates certain duties around the processing 
of this data to its third party service providers, such as the Company’s Registrar and Printers. The Company has appointed Fidelity 
to undertake marketing activities for the Company and their privacy statement can be found on the Company website at  
https://investment-trusts.fidelity.co.uk/privacy-policy/

The Company’s agreements with the third party service providers have been updated to be compliant with GDPR requirements. 
The Company confirms to its shareholders that their data will not be shared with any third party for any other purpose, such as for 
marketing purposes. In some circumstances, it may be necessary to transfer shareholders’ personal data across national borders 
to Fidelity Group entities operating in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). Where this does occur, the European standard of 
protections will be applied to the personal data that is processed. Where personal data is transferred within the Fidelity group but 
outside of the EEA, that data will subsequently receive the same degree of protection as it would in the EEA.

How long will personal data be kept for?
We will keep the personal data for as long as is necessary for these purposes and no longer than we are legally permitted to do so.

Requesting access, making changes to your personal data and other important information
Shareholders can access the information that the Company holds about them or ask for it to be corrected or deleted by contacting 
Fidelity’s UK Data Protection Officer, Fidelity International, Beech Gate, Millfield Lane, Surrey KT20 6RP.

Shareholder Information continued



Job No: 36716 Proof Event: 37 Black Line Level: 3 Park Communications Ltd Alpine Way London E6 6LA

Customer: Fidelity Project Title: FJT Annual Report T: 0207 055 6500 F: 020 7055 6600

65
Annual Report 2018 | Fidelity Japan Trust PLC

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L
G

O
VE

RN
A
N

C
E

IN
FO

RM
A

TI
O

N
 F

O
R 

SH
A

R
EH

O
LD

ER
S

ST
RA

TE
G

YManagers and Advisors

Alternative Investment Fund Manager
(AIFM/the Manager)
FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited 
Oakhill House 
130 Tonbridge Road 
Hildenborough 
Tonbridge 
Kent 
TN11 9DZ

Investment Manager, Secretary and 
Registered Office
FIL Investments International 
Beech Gate 
Millfield Lane 
Lower Kingswood 
Tadworth 
Surrey 
KT20 6RP 
Email: investmenttrusts@fil.com 

Independent Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP 
25 Churchill Place 
London 
E14 5EY

Lawyer
Charles Russell Speechlys LLP 
5 Fleet Place 
London 
EC4M 7RD

Banker and Custodian
JPMorgan Chase Bank 
(London Branch) 
125 London Wall 
London 
EC2Y 5AJ

Depositary
J.P.Morgan Europe Limited 
25 Bank Street 
London 
E14 5JP

Financial Adviser and Stockbroker
Stifel Nicolaus Europe Limited 
150 Cheapside 
London 
EC2V 6ET

Registrar
Link Asset Services 
The Registry 
34 Beckenham Road 
Beckenham 
Kent 
BR3 4TU

Company Information
The Company was launched on 15 March 1994 with one warrant 
attached to every five shares. The original subscription price was 
£1 for each ordinary share of 25 pence each. On 11 November 
2009, the Company issued subscription shares on a 1 for 5 basis 
and these were all exercised by 28 February 2014. The Company 
made another subscription share issue on 26 August 2014 on a 1 
for 5 basis and these were all exercised by 29 April 2016.

The Company is a member of the Association of Investment 
Companies (“AIC”) from whom general information on investment 
trusts can be obtained by telephoning 020 7282 5555 (email: 
enquiries@theaic.co.uk).

Price Information
The share price of the Company is published daily in the 
Financial Times under the heading “Investment Companies”. 
It is also published in The Times and The Daily Telegraph. 
Price and performance information is also available at 
www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com.

Investors can also obtain current price information by telephoning 
Fidelity on 0800 41 41 10 (freephone) or FT Cityline on 
0905 817 1690 (voice activated service) (calls are charged 
at 60p per minute on a per second basis from a BT landline. 
Charges from other telephone networks may vary). The Reuters 
code for Fidelity Japan Trust PLC is FJV.L, the SEDOL is 0332855 
and the ISIN is GB0003328555.

Net Asset Value (“NAV”) Information
The NAV of the Company is calculated on a daily basis and 
released to the London Stock Exchange on a daily basis.

Capital Gains Tax
All UK individuals under present legislation are permitted to 
have £11,700 of capital gains in the current tax year 2018/2019 
(2017/2018: £11,300) before being liable for capital gains tax. 
Capital gains tax is charged at 10% and 20% dependent on the 
total amount of taxable income.

https://www.fidelityinvestmenttrusts.com
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Glossary of Terms

AIF
Alternative Investment Fund (“AIF”). The Company is an AIF.

AIFM
Alternative Investment Fund Manager’ (“AIFM”). The Board has 
appointed FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited to act as the 
Company’s AIFM/(the Manager).

AIFMD
The Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”) 
is a European Union Directive and was implemented on 22 July 
2014.

Alternative Performance Measures
The Company uses the following Alternative Performance 
Measures which are all defined in this Glossary of Terms:

• Discount/Premium; 

• Net Asset Value (NAV) per Share; 

• Ongoing Charges; 

• Return (Revenue, Capital and Total Returns); and 

• Total Return Performance. 

Capital Gains Tax (CGT)
The tax you may have to pay if you sell your shares at a profit.

Collateral
Asset provided as security for the unrealised gain or loss under a 
contract for difference.

Contract for Difference (CFD)
A contract for difference is a derivative. It is a contract between 
the Company and an investment house at the end of which the 
parties exchange the difference between the opening price and 
the closing price of an underlying asset of the specified financial 
instrument. It does not involve the Company buying or selling the 
underlying asset, only agreeing to receive or pay the movement 
in its share price. A contract for difference allows the Company 
to gain access to the movement in the share price by depositing 
a small amount of cash known as margin. The Company may 
reason that the asset price will rise, by buying (“long“ position) 
or fall, by selling (“short“ position). If the Company trades long, 
dividends are received and interest is paid. If the Company 
trades short, dividends are paid and interest is received. The 
Company only uses “long” contracts for difference.

Corporation Tax
The UK tax the Company may have to pay on its profits for a 
year. As an investment trust company, the Company is exempt 
from UK corporation tax on its capital gains and does not pay 
tax on any UK dividends. It can also offset expenses against any 
taxable income and consequently it is tax efficient and does not 
pay corporation tax.

Custodian
An entity that holds (as intermediary) the Company’s assets, 
arranges the settlement of transactions and administers income, 
proxy voting and corporate actions. The Company’s Custodian is 
JPMorgan Chase Bank.

Depositary
An entity that oversees the custody, cash arrangements and other 
AIFMD responsibilities of the Company. The Board has appointed 
J.P. Morgan Europe Limited to act as the Company’s Depositary.

Derivatives
Financial instruments (such as futures, options and contracts 
for difference) whose value is derived from the value of an 
underlying asset.

Discount
If the share price of the Company is lower than the net asset 
value per share, the Company is said to be trading at a discount. 
The discount is shown as a percentage of the net asset value. 
The opposite of a discount is a premium. It is more common for 
an investment trust to trade at a discount than a premium.

Fair Value
The fair value is the best estimate of the realisable value of the 
investments, including derivatives, at a point in time and this is 
measured as:

•  Listed investments – valued at bid prices, or last market 
prices, where available, otherwise at published price 
quotations; 

•  Unlisted investments – valued using an appropriate 
valuation technique in the absence of an active market; and 

•  Contracts for difference – valued as the difference 
between the settlement price of the contract and the value 
of the underlying shares in the contract (unrealised gains or 
losses). 

Gearing
Gearing describes the level of a Company’s exposure and is 
usually expressed as a percentage of shareholders’ funds. It 
reflects the amount of exposure the Company uses to invest in the 
market. It can be through the use of bank loans, bank overdrafts 
or contracts for difference, in order to increase a Company’s 
exposure to investments. If assets rise in value, gearing magnifies 
the return to ordinary shareholders. Correspondingly, if assets fall 
in value, gearing magnifies that fall. Contracts for difference are 
used as a way of gaining exposure to the price movements of 
shares without buying the underlying shares directly.

Gearing Percentage
In a simple example, if the Company has £100 million of net 
assets and £8 million of borrowings (either via bank loans or 
long contracts for difference), then the shareholders’ funds are 8% 
geared. Normally, the higher the gearing percentage, the more 
sensitive the Company’s shares will be to the movements up and 
down in the value of the investment portfolio.
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FIL Investments International acts as the Company’s Investment 
Manager under delegation from FIL Investment Services (UK) 
Limited (the appointed AIFM).

Manager
FIL Investment Services (UK) Limited was appointed as the 
Manager in accordance with the Alternative Investment Fund 
Managers Directive (“AIFMD”), and has delegated the investment 
management of the Company to the Investment Manager.

Net Asset Value (NAV)
Net asset value is sometimes also described as “shareholders’ 
funds”, and represents the total value of the Company’s assets 
less the total value of its liabilities. For valuation purposes it is 
common to express the net asset value on a per share basis.

Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share – Undiluted
The net asset value divided by the number of ordinary shares in 
issue.

Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share – Diluted
The net asset value per ordinary share – undiluted adjusted to 
reflect what the net asset value per share would have been if 
the rights attached to any outstanding subscription shares or 
warrants in issue had been exercised. A dilution occurs when 
the exercise price of the subscription share rights or warrants is 
less than the net asset value per ordinary share – undiluted. The 
Company has no outstanding subscription shares or warrants at 
the date of this report.

Ongoing Charges
Total expenses (excluding finance costs and taxation) incurred by 
the Company as a percentage of daily average net asset values. 
This excludes the variable element of the management fee.

Pre-Emption Rights
Section 561 of the Companies Act 2006 provides that a company 
offering a new issue of shares must first make an offer of these 
shares, on the same or more favourable terms, in proportion 
to the nominal value held by existing shareholders. At each 
Annual General Meeting, the Board seeks shareholder approval 
to disapply pre-emption right provisions, up to 5% of the issued 
share capital of the company.

Premium
If the share price of the Company is higher than the net asset 
value per share, the Company is said to be trading at a 
premium. The premium is shown as a percentage of the net asset 
value. The opposite of a premium is a discount.

Reference Index
The Company’s Reference Index is the TOPIX Index (in sterling 
terms). Prior to 22 May 2018 it was the Russell Nomura  
Mid/Small Cap Index (in sterling terms).

Registrar
An entity that manages the Company’s shareholders register. The 
Company’s Registrar is Link Asset Services.

Return/(Loss)
The return/(loss) generated in the period from the investments:

•  Revenue Return/(Loss) reflects the dividends and interest 
from investments and other income net of expenses, finance 
costs and taxation; 

•  Capital Return/(Loss) reflects the return/(loss) on capital, 
excluding any revenue return/(loss); and 

•  Total Return/(Loss) reflects the aggregate of revenue and 
capital return/(loss) in the period. 

Share Repurchases
An increasingly popular way for investment trust companies to 
return cash to their shareholders is through offering to repurchase 
a proportion of shares currently held. The Company seeks the 
permission of shareholders to do so at its Annual General 
Meetings allowing it to repurchase a proportion of their total 
shares (up to 14.99%) in the market at prices below the prevailing 
net asset value per share. This process is also used to enhance 
the net asset value per share and to reduce the discount to net 
asset value.

Shareholders’ Funds
Shareholders’ funds are also described as “net asset value” and 
represent the total value of the Company’s assets less the total 
value of its liabilities.

Total Portfolio Exposure
The total of fixed asset investments at fair value plus the 
fair value of the underlying securities within the contracts for 
difference.

Total Return Performance
The return on the ordinary share price or net asset value per 
share taking into account the rise and fall of ordinary share 
prices and the dividends paid to shareholders. Any dividends 
received by the shareholder are assumed to have been 
reinvested in additional ordinary shares (for share price total 
return) or the Company’s assets (for net asset value total return).

Treasury Shares
Ordinary shares of the Company that have been repurchased 
by the Company and not cancelled but held in Treasury. These 
shares do not pay dividends, have no voting rights and are 
excluded from the net asset value per share calculation.
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Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s 
Disclosure

In compliance with the Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Directive (“AIFMD”), the Board has appointed FIL Investment Services 
(UK) Limited (“FISL”) (a Fidelity group company) as the Company’s Alternative Investment Fund Manager (“AIFM”). FISL has delegated 
the portfolio management and company secretarial function to FIL Investments International (another Fidelity group company). Details 
of the Management Agreement can be found in the Directors’ Report on page 23.

The table below and on the next page discloses information required by the Alternative Investment Fund Manager’s Regulations 2013.

Function AIFM Role and Responsibility AIFMD Disclosure

Investment 
management

The AIFM provides portfolio management of 
assets and investment advice in relation to the 
assets of the Company. It has delegated this 
function to FIL Investments International.

The Board remains responsible for setting the 
investment strategy, investment policy and 
investment guidelines and the AIFM operates 
within these guidelines.

Details of the Company’s investment objective, 
strategy and investment policy, including limits, are 
on pages 11 and 12.

Risk 
management

The AIFM has a responsibility for risk 
management for the Company which is in 
addition to the Board’s corporate governance 
responsibility for risk management.

The Company has a Risk Management Process 
Document which is agreed with the Board and 
demonstrates that risk management is separated 
functionally and hierarchically from operating units 
and demonstrates independent safeguards. The 
Manager maintains adequate risk management 
systems in order to identify, measure and monitor 
all risks at least annually under the AIFMD. The 
Manager is responsible for the implementation 
of various risk activities such as risk systems, risk 
profile, risk limits and testing.

The Board, as part of UK corporate governance, 
remains responsible for the identification of 
significant risks and for the ongoing review of the 
Company’s risk management and internal control 
processes.

The AIFM has an ongoing process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing the principal risks faced 
by the Company and this is regularly reviewed by 
the Board. The Board remains responsible for the 
Company’s system of risk management and internal 
control, and for reviewing its effectiveness. Further 
details can be found in the Strategic Report on 
page 12 and in Note 16 to the Financial Statements 
on pages 53 to 57.

Valuation of 
illiquid assets

The Directive requires the disclosure of the 
percentage of the Alternative Investment Fund’s 
assets which are subject to special arrangements 
arising from their illiquid nature and any new 
arrangements for managing the liquidity of the 
Company.

Not Applicable.
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Function AIFM Role and Responsibility AIFMD Disclosure

Leverage The Company uses leverage to increase its 
exposure primarily to Japanese stockmarkets and 
currently holds derivatives to achieve this. The 
AIFM has set maximum levels of leverage that 
are reasonable. It has implemented systems to 
calculate and monitor compliance against these 
limits and has ensured that the limits have been 
complied with at all times.

There are two methods of calculating leverage 
– the Gross Method which does not reduce 
exposure for hedging; and the Commitment 
Method which does reduce exposure for hedging.

The maximum leverage limits are 1.80 for the Gross 
Method of calculating leverage and 1.50 for the 
Commitment Method. 

At 31 December 2018, leverage for the Gross 
Method was 1.19 and for the Commitment Method 
was 1.15.

Liquidity 
management

The AIFM, in consultation with the Board, 
maintains a liquidity management policy which is 
considered at least annually.

No new arrangements for managing the liquidity of 
the Company have been made. Further details can 
be found in Note 16 on page 55.

Remuneration 
of the AIFM

The AIFM operates under the terms of Fidelity 
International’s Global Remuneration Policy. 
This ensures that the AIFM complies with the 
requirements of the FCA’s Remuneration Code 
(SYSC19A); the AIFM Remuneration Code 
(SYSC19B) and the BIPRU Remuneration Code 
(SYSC19C).

Details of Fidelity International’s Global Reumeration 
Policy can be found at www.fidelityinternational.
com/global/remuneration/default.page.

EU Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (“SFTR”)
The following disclosures relate to the long contracts for difference (“CFDs”) held by the Company which may be considered Total 
Return Swaps under the SFTR, which came into force on 12 January 2016. CFDs were contracted bilaterally with UBS (UK) and had an 
open maturity.

As at 31 December 2018, the fair value of the CFDs was a loss of £6,260,000 which represented 3.34% of net assets. Collateral of 
£7,611,000 was held by UBS (UK) in a segregated account on behalf of the broker. Collateral was held in cash denominated in yen 
maturing in one day. The total return for the year ended 31 December 2018 from CFDs was a loss of £6,770,000.

https://www.fidelityinternational.com/global/remuneration/default.page
https://www.fidelityinternational.com/global/remuneration/default.page
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